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Acronyms
AHPRA 		

Australian Health Practitioners Registration Authority

ASQA		

Australian Skills Quality Authority

AIDP 		

Army Indigenous Development Program

CAAMA 		

Central Australian Aboriginal Media Association

CALL		

Centre for Australian Languages and Linguistics

CDU		

Charles Darwin University

DPC		

Desert Peoples Centre

FNMA 		

First Nations Media Australia

FRAIM 		

Festival of Remote Australian Indigenous Moving Image

HDR		

Higher Degree by Research

ICTV		

Indigenous Community TV

NG Media 		

Ngaanyatjarra Media

NTCS		

Northern Territory Correctional Services

PAKAM		

Pilbara and Kimberley Aboriginal Media

PAW Media 		

Pintubi, Anmatjere, Warlpiri Media

PTS		Preparation for Tertiary Success
PY Media		

Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Media

REDC 		

Regional Force Surveillance Unit - Education & Development Course

RTO		

Registered Training Organisation

SLA		

Service Level Agreement

TEABBA 		

Top End Aboriginal Bush Broadcasting Association

TSIMA 		

Torres Strait Islander Media Association

USI 		

Unique Student Identifier

VET		

Vocational Education and Training

VETiS		

VET in Schools

WETT 		

Warlpiri Education and Training Trust
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Message from
the Chair
I took up the office of Chair of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous
Tertiary Education Council when I was appointed, along with
several new members, in early February 2019.
The refreshed Council, along with the Institute’s executive, are
largely comprised of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people,
making Batchelor Institute the only First Nations-led, dual sector
tertiary education facility in Australia. This uniqueness is a source
of great pride and responsibility.
For more than forty years Batchelor Institute has been a
cornerstone of First Nations’ self-determination; growing and
strengthening our organisations, services and leadership. It is not
one place, rather it is many places around the country where our
thousands of graduates and students have come from, live and
work.
We have taught generations of health workers, school teachers,
broadcasters, artists and community workers. Our graduates
now run organisations; they are cultural leaders, school
principals, health professionals, CEOs, media commentators and
government officials. One, a second-generation graduate, is a
Northern Territory Government Minister.
As times change, Batchelor Institute must also change and
2019 has been an important year of consolidation, confirming
the Institute’s financial viability and building a reimagined
organisation. Change is not always easy. It can stretch us in ways
we do not always anticipate, and I acknowledge the resilience of
our staff throughout the year and thank them for their continued
commitment to our students and future.

nationally and internationally. Where things are not right, where
systems are broken and do not adequately serve the needs and
aspirations of our peoples, we must challenge. The Institute’s role
is to empower our students, graduates, researchers and families;
to give voice and skills to new generations who will seek their own
solutions.
Nowhere is the sense of possibility more evident than at our
graduations.
I was very proud to preside over two in 2019 – one in Alice
Springs and one in Darwin. These, and the ceremonies held in
NT correctional facilities and remote communities, are a time
of great celebration and I congratulate all of our graduates and
applaud their achievements.
Among our diverse 2019 graduates are three First Nations PhD
doctoral awardees, an increased number of Aboriginal Health
Practitioners, young mothers from Alice Springs and Darwin who
completed their studies, and those serving custodial sentences
who are improving their future opportunities.
To see their pride and the transformative impact learning has
made on these graduates, their families and communities, is a
poignant reminder of the purpose of Batchelor Institute and the
need for a strong future.
I am looking forward to 2020, a time of new energy and continued
growth as we meet the challenges of a new decade and assure
the aspirations of First Nations peoples.
Ms Patricia Anderson AO

Collaborations and partnerships with key stakeholders, industry
sectors and government continued to strengthen. Batchelor
Institute undertook new agreements and throughout the year
has delivered quality, targeted training and learning that has
met the demands of both employers and our communities.
A significant milestone, and personal highlight, was the conferring
of Batchelor Institute’s first awards of Honorary Doctorate. The
two recipients, the late Dr Barbara Cummings and Dr Rosalie
Kunoth-Monks, could not be more deserving. They have fought
tirelessly for justice and the rights of First Nations peoples, and
each has made a profound contribution to the nation’s history
and the broader Australian community.
These formidable women are a reminder of Batchelor Institute’s
additional responsibility as a centre of learning and excellence.
That is, to help set the agenda for First Nations peoples – locally,

Dr Robyn Ober and Chair Pat Anderson AO
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Elder’s
Message
Kemec.
I would like to pay my respect to other
Kungarakan Elders and to all Kungarakan clan
Members.
I also acknowledge Warrai People co-Traditional
Owners-Custodians of the sovereign lands, the
ancient traditional estates in the BatchelorCoomalie-Adelaide River-Litchfield region.
I also acknowledge all Gurindji Nation and
Mudpurra region People.
I pay my respect to Traditional OwnersCustodians - Arrernte Peoples - at Batchelor
Institute’s other main Central Australian campus
at the Desert Peoples Centre (DPC) and to
Larrakia Nation and People where extension of
Batchelor Institute campus is based at Charles
Darwin University.
My recognition and respect goes out to all sovereign nations
Peoples at various communities and regions where Batchelor
Institute may have a presence, whether delivering courses and
programs or conducting other business.
I extend expressions of acknowledgement to all families and
communities across the Torres Strait Islands and especially to all
families supporting students from the various Islands who choose
to travel the long distances to study at Batchelor Institute.
On behalf of Batchelor Institute I also extend greetings and
acknowledgement to all families of students from the variety of
sovereign nations across Australia, and to all students who have
chosen Batchelor Institute as their place of study.
Expressions of acknowledgement and appreciation are extended
to all staff of the Institute, and to Industry partners, stakeholders,
friends and supporters and residents of the Batchelor-Coomalie
community.
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Before anything, as First Nations Peoples, as we celebrate
our ongoing survival as sovereign nations of Peoples we must
always pause to remember the struggles of our Ancestors - our
Warriors (men, women and children) – our Elders - all those who
have gone before us to join the Ancestors - all who have made
this present possible for all of us.
It is with great pride I acknowledge the role I have been given at
Batchelor Institute as Elder Academic and I sincerely appreciate
CEO Professor Larkin’s commitment to and support of this role.
As an Aboriginal scholar, I celebrate that this particular tertiary
institution has as its CEO a high-ranking senior Aboriginal
academic recognised at international and national levels who
continues to open a number of doors while developing pathways
and networks that will not only change what was once viewed as
‘Indigenous Research at BI’ – without the Indigenous, but works
to broaden and firmly align Indigenous academic intentions and
aspirations. The future plan to establish a high-quality and First
Nations-led Research Centre is high on my personal support list.
A personal and professional career level I appreciate the support
of Professor Larkin as I pursue a number of research opportunities
with other universities and organisations and as part of
broadening the Institute’s profile and expanding participation at
local, national and international levels.
One of the highlights of 2019 for me was as representative for
Professor Larkin and the Institute at the Native American and
Indigenous Studies Association (NAISA) Conference: 25-29 June.
The conference host was Professor Brendan Hokowhitu, Associate
Dean, Faculty of Maori and Indigenous Studies at University of
Waikato, Hamilton, Aotearoa/New Zealand. Dr Kathryn Gilbey,
Director of BI Graduate School and I presented around the themes
of land-based cultures and knowledges, knowing Country,
sovereignty, and governmentality and Indigenous participation
in the Australian academy. Our presentation was well-received.
Other highlights of 2019 included the conferral of the honorary
degree of Doctor of the Institute Honoris Causa to two
outstanding Aboriginal women of the Northern Territory: Dr
Barbara Cummings (1948-2019) and Dr Rosalie Kunoth-Monks.
Congratulations to the three Aboriginal PhD candidates
who graduated: Dr Joe Fraser, Dr Robyn Ober and Dr Majon
Williamson-Kefu.

The 2019 working experience for me was an ongoing exciting
learning experience whilst working directly with Professor Larkin
and with Chief Operating Officer Mrs Leah Atkinson and as
part of the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). I enjoy my direct
association with BI Graduate School Director Dr Kathryn Gilbey
and my exposure to BI Higher Degree Research candidates and
their research projects.
As an extension of my role as Elder Academic and as both personal
and professional commitment to community engagement, I am
active in external organisations which form integral academic
as well as stakeholder links to the Institute. Two professional key
organisations are the Northern Territory Heritage Council and
the Heritage Chairs and Officials of Australia and New Zealand
(HCOANZ), Australian Heritage Council, Australian Government.
Otherwise I engage, interact and serve on a broad range of
diverse community organisations.

The Batchelor Institute Team look to the future, conscious that it
must move on with new and different ideas and promise and it
does this well aware of the many challenges that still lie ahead,
including possible change to some structures and practices
within the organisation.
I have great confidence in the future Vision and direction slowly
taking shape under the leadership of Professor Steve Larkin and
the Institute Council and I congratulate all on the new direction
that will lead our future thinking and actions. The future looks
bright and exciting.
Stay healthy, happy, safe and strong.
Remember: the spirits are watching.
Mumuk for now.
Dr Sue Stanton: Elder Academic, Batchelor Institute

I work alongside Professor Larkin and the Batchelor Institute
Council, and others, in efforts to create and broaden the profile of
the Institute at local, national and international levels, well aware
that the Institute exists for the primary purpose of advancing the
educational landscape and experience for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander students whilst in culturally safe environments.

Dr Sue Stanton, above and, at left, with
Kungarakan Elder Mr Speedy McGinness
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Our
Council
PATRICIA ANDERSON AO
Council Chair
Ms Pat Anderson is an Alyawarre woman and powerful advocate for the health of Australia’s
First Peoples. She has published many essays, papers and articles, including co-authoring the
‘Little Children Are Sacred’ report on the abuse of Aboriginal children in the NT. Pat has held many
positions – CEO of Danila Dilba Health, Chair of NACCHO and Chair of AMSANT, and is currently
also Chair of the Lowtja Institute.
Ms Anderson was appointed Officer of the Order of Australia (AO) in 2014 for distinguished service
to the Indigenous community.

RUSSELL TAYLOR AM
Council Deputy Chair
Russell is an Aboriginal Australian (Kamilaroi) and former long-term Senior Executive Service
member of the Australian Public Service. More recently he was CEO of the Australian Institute of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS). He has extensive experience in corporate
governance and a long history in leadership and advocacy with particular passion for education
and social welfare.
In 2015 Russell was awarded Membership of the General Division of the Order of Australia and in
2016 he was the recipient of the UTS Sydney Inaugural Indigenous Alumni Award for Excellence.

PROFESSOR BONI ROBERTSON
Acting Chair - Feb 2019
Professor Robertson held senior appointments at the University of Queensland and was
State Chair of the Ministerial Indigenous Education Advisory Committee. She has coauthored and authored numerous state, national and international reviews and reports
relating to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander affairs and has extensive experience in
the area of Indigenous policy, community engagement and community partnerships.
Professor Robertson ceased membership of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education Council in Feb 2019.

VICKI BAYLIS
Ms Baylis has over thirty years’ experience in the education sector and joined Batchelor Institute
Council upon appointment as Chief Executive Officer for the NT Department of Education in 2016.
Ms Baylis’ previous roles have included Principal, District Director, Regional Executive Director,
Executive Director Schools and Executive Director School Support Services. Her responsibilities
included Territory-wide delivery of curriculum, teaching, learning, assessment, and inclusion
from Transition to Year 12. She has positively contributed to vocational education and training,
enrolment and attendance, wellbeing and mental health, as well as engagement and industry
partnerships.
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LIAM FRASER
Staff Representative
Liam was born and raised in the NT by his English mother and Indigenous father. After completing
high school at Casuarina College he worked in various roles including management positions. He
completed an apprenticeship in Carpentry in 2009 and, while working on prison-based projects,
he gravitated towards teaching and training inmates. He joined Batchelor Institute in 2013 as a
VET lecturer and received on-the-job mentoring while teaching all 15 units in the Certificate Level
II in Construction. In 2016 Liam won the NT Training Award for VET Teacher/Trainer of the year. He
is committed to building students’ confidence and enabling positive and life-changing learning
experiences.

LAUREN GANLEY
Lauren is the NT Director of PwC Indigenous Consulting (PIC), a national Indigenous profit-forpurpose organisation that has been appointed by the Australian Government to develop the
Kakadu Tourism Master Plan. Prior to PIC, Lauren was CEO of Desert Knowledge Australia for
two years, and for 30 years she had a successful career with Telstra. Lauren is a graduate and
Fellow of the Australian Rural Leadership Foundation, and a graduate of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors. Her board memberships include Chair of Telstra’s Indigenous Advisory
Committee and Community First Development, and in 2014 Lauren was recognised as one of
Australia’s most influential women, winning a place in The Australian Financial Review and
Westpac 100 Women of Influence Awards.

MICK GOODA
Mick Gooda’s people are the Ghungalu and Yiman from Central Queensland. Mick has been an
advocate for the rights of First Nations Australians for the past 35 years. His appointments include
ATSI Social Justice Commissioner, Co-Commissioner on the Royal Commission into the Protection
and Detention of Children in the NT, CEO of the CRC for Aboriginal Health, and with ATSIC.
More recently, he has been appointed to the Queensland First Children and Families Board
overseeing reforms to reduce over-representation in the child protection system, and as First
Nations Advisor to the Queensland Minister for Housing and Public Works.

LOUIS KANTILLA
Student Representative
Louis is a Tiwi man from the Wurrumiyanga community. He has strong ties throughout
the Northern Territory and has been studying at Batchelor Institute since the early 1990s.
In 2015 he graduated in Certificate Level IVin Screen and Media and a Diploma of Screen
and Media. In 2017 he was appointed as a Director of the Top End Aboriginal Bush
Broadcasting Association (TEABBA) and in 2019 he commenced training in Construction.

PROFESSOR STEVE LARKIN
Chief Executive Officer
Professor Larkin is a Kungarakan man. He holds a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) from the QUT, a
Master’s degree in Social Science from Charles Sturt University and a Bachelor of Social Work
from the University of Queensland. Professor Larkin has served on numerous national advisory
boards and chaired the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Higher Education Advisory Council
(ATSIHEAC). Steve provides invaluable input as a member of the National Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Higher Education Consortium (NATSIHEC), the National Indigenous Research and
Knowledges Network (NIRAKN), Beyond Blue, the New Colombo Plan Reference Group, and as
Chair of the Healing Foundation.
Annual Report 2019

9

Strategic
Direction
Batchelor Institute is constituted under the
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education Act 1999. Ten years on from the
implementation of the Act, Batchelor Institute
continues to strive to meet our Mission as a
tertiary educational institution for Indigenous
people of Australia through the provision
of educational and training programs and
courses, and facilities and resources for
research and study.

The 2019 Annual Report details Batchelor Institute’s achievements
and outcomes in relation to our Mission, strategic direction and
risk management.
This year is the last full year of the Institute’s 2015 – 2020 Strategic
Plan - Building on the Past, Working to the Future. Work towards
developing the next Strategic Plan for the Institute commenced
late in 2019 and the new document will be released in 2020
following staff input and Executive and Council endorsement.

White Cockatoo Dancers leading the academic procession at Batchelor Campus
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Workforce
WORK HEALTH SAFETY

HUMAN RESOURCES

Batchelor Institute has a duty of care for the health and safety
of all staff, students, contractors and persons working at and
visiting the Institute’s campuses and business sites, ensuring
they are not put at risk.

The Enterprise Agreement was negotiated in 2019, and approved
by the Fair Work Commission in November. Pay rises included
compensation due to the length of time negotiations had taken.
The Enterprise Agreement was approved until 30 June 2020.
Negotiations will commence with unions in March 2020 to ensure
the agreement achieves the best outcome for the Institute and
staff.

The Insitute considers all workplace injuries to be preventable
and strives to ensure best practice work health and safety (WHS)
systems are intergrated into all operations. The health and safety
strategy aims to meet statutory and employee duty of care
obligations to create a productive learning and work environment.
The 2019 WHS initiatives included:
Renovation of residential and office buildings to ensure well
maintained premises
[ Removal of asbestos in Coomalie Cultural Centre’s kitchen
[ Fire panel system compliance
[ Regular inspections to ensure WHS issues addressed quickly
[ WHS face to face and online induction training to all new staff
[ Bullying and harassment awareness training delivered to all
staff
[ Contact officer training to nominated staff
[ Ergonomic assessments of staff workspaces
[ Purchase of second defibrillator for Batchelor campus

A review of business practices, and strategic and financial
decision-making, led to positive changes. Each of the Institute’s
divisions developed Business Operational Plans for 2019
onwards, supporting the overall strategic direction.

[

The Human Resources team continues to identify practical steps
to support Batchelor Institute’s workforce and students, guided
by the HR Department Review and Organisational Health Report.
These reports led to the introduction of a range of initiatives
including work, health and safety training and the establishment
of Contact Officers throughout the organisation. An ongoing
review of policies, procedures and recruitment processes will
futher streamline service delivery across the organisation and
create operational efficiencies.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
A number of professional development activities were undertaken
throughout 2019. These included first aid and fire warden training,
and VET staff undertook industry training to ensure maintenance
of their competency levels.

2019
STAFF
MOVEMENT

2019
STAFF
NUMBERS

Temp Contract
Completed
49

Retired
1
Commenced
104

Ceased on
Probation
1

Resigned
27
Redundant
(Voluntary)
26
Redundant
(Involuntary)
3

Average
total number
of staff

234.35*

34.78%

Casual Cessation
7

Average
number
Aboriginal
and/or
Torres Strait
Islander Staff
81.71

*FTE 181.56
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Inaugural Honorary
Doctorate Awards
In 2019 the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous
Tertiary Education conferred its first Honorary
Doctorate awards.
The conferral of these awards recognised the outstanding
contributions made by two national champions: Barbara
Cummings, known as the ‘Godmother of the Stolen Generation’;
and Rosalie Lynette Kunoth-Monks, a former Institute Council
member and Chairperson.
Dr Cummings, who sadly passed away a few months after
she received her award, was a powerful and fearless fighter for
social justice, and in particular, the national recognition of the
treatment suffered by Stolen Generation peoples. Taken from her
mother and raised at the Retta Dixon Home in Darwin, her 1990
book, Take this child: from Kahlin Compound to the Retta Dixon
Children’s Home, detailed the abuses she and other children
were subjected to and its ongoing, inter-generational toll. Her
advocacy contributed to the development of the 1996 ‘Bringing
Them Home’ report, which became the basis of the Australian
government’s historic 2007 Apology.

From humble beginnings as a cleaner at Kormilda College and
Dundas House, it was Cyclone Tracy that led to Barbara’s lifelong
commitment to education and learning. She often attributed
her evacuation to Sydney where she witnessed Aboriginal
organisations controlled by Aboriginal people – something she
had not seen at home – as the point she realised she could do
more with her life. Barbara had a stint in Canberra working for
the Department of Aboriginal Affairs before heading back to
Sydney and repatriation to Darwin. She obtained a scholarship
to study at SA Institute of Technology in Adelaide and, back
in Darwin, went on to become instrumental in the founding of
community organisations including KARU childcare agency and
Danila Dilba Medical Service. As chair of the Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Commission (ATSIC) Yilli Rreung Regional Council
she was an outspoken advocate for fully funded services for
Aboriginal controlled organisations, adequate housing and child
protection, services for ‘long-grass’ people, and the recognition of
the Stolen Generations under the NT Aboriginal Land Rights Act.
Dr Rosalie Kunoth-Monks OAM is an Arrernte, Alyawarr Elder
born at Utopia Station in 1937. She was 16 when she was cast
in the title role of the film “Jedda” and, following this experience,
she became an Anglican nun. Based in Victoria, she left the order

(Left) Dr Barbara Cummings and
Dr Rosalie Kunoth-Monks OAM
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after ten years and immediately began working with and for the
Aboriginal community. Rosalie is credited with setting up the first
Aboriginal children’s home in Victoria.
Returning to Alice Springs with her family in 1970, Rosalie
continued her work in social welfare, law and justice, education
and childcare; working for Aboriginal Hostels, the Central
Australian Aboriginal Legal Service and ATSIC. Rosalie has been
a strong activist for Aboriginal wellbeing, rights and culture, and
as a member of the NT Legislative Assembly, she successfully
fought against a dam being built on sacred country outside Alice
Springs.
Rosalie has had a long involvement with Batchelor Institute as
both Deputy Chair of the Institute’s Council and as Chair when
she succeeded Yolngu Elder Mr Gatjil Djerrkura OAM after his
passing in 2004. She has a passion for the things that matter
– justice, rights, education, culture and wellbeing and has
campaigned strongly against the Northern Territory Intervention
and associated suspension of the Racial Discrimination Act, and
Aboriginal Deaths in Custody.
Dr Cummings and Dr Kunoth-Monks have made enormous
contributions to the advancement of First Nations peoples.
Their impact changed the nation’s dialogue and the broader
Australian society. It drove political debate and the search for
just solutions. It changed lives for the better and ensured First
Nations ways of knowing and experience is recognised as
legitimate knowledge. Batchelor Institute is very proud to be able
to fittingly acknowledge their wisdom, teaching and legacy with
the conferring of these degrees.
(Top) Professor Steve Larkin and Pat Anderson AO at the
conferral of Dr Cummings’ degree
(Right) Artwork honoring the life of Dr Barbara Cummings
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PhD Graduates
DR JOE FRASER

DR ROBYN OBER

During his final year of research in 2019, Joe Fraser was the Chief
Academic Officer at Kanu O Ka ‘Aina Learning ‘Ohana, a Native
Hawaiian community education organisation located in Waimea,
Hawai’i Island. Joe has held higher education roles at the
University of Technology in Sydney, the University of Newcastle,
and Batchelor Institute. He lived in Hawai’i for nine years with a
focus on Native Hawaiian teacher education. Joe’s thesis, titled
Phenomenology and Meaning: ‘Aina in Teaching and Learning,
presents a study into Native Hawaiian educators’ perceptions of
ÿÄina, or land, in teaching and learning. It examines essential
structures of meaning that contribute to a Native Hawaiian
philosophy of education.

Robyn Ober is a Mamu/Djirribal woman from the rainforest
region of North Queensland. She has an extensive educational
background, teaching in early childhood, primary and tertiary
sectors in remote, rural and urban contexts. She has a strong
interest in both-ways education, educational leadership and
Indigenous Australian languages. Her research focused on
Aboriginal English as a Social and Cultural Identity Marker in an
Indigenous Tertiary Educational Context. Robyn has undertaken
several research projects and has been published in educational
and linguistic journals, both nationally and internationally.

From Abstract – PhD thesis Anthony (Joe) Fraser: The study
addresses a knowledge void in the research on Native Hawaiian
ontology. Using a hermeneutic phenomenological design, the
research searched for meaning in the thick, rich descriptions of
ÿÄina in teaching and learning from a series of in-depth interviews
on the lived experiences of seven Native Hawaiian educators.

From Abstract – PhD thesis Robyn Ober: This thesis examines
how Aboriginal languages are accommodated within an
Indigenous tertiary educational context to empower Aboriginal
students to draw on their own social, cultural and linguistic
repertoires . . . Aboriginal English is not formally recognised as part
of the academic discourse in higher education and so Aboriginal
students often feel pressured to leave their social, cultural and
linguistic repertoires outside the academy gates and to take on,
and fit into, a strictly Western academic approach to learning.
This ‘different therefore deficit’ mindset is a major obstacle for a
number of Aboriginal students.

PhD graduates Dr Robyn Ober,
Dr Joe Fraser and Dr Majon Williamson-Kefu
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PhD graduates Dr Joe Fraser, Dr Robyn Ober and Dr Majon Williamson-Kefu

DR MAJON WILLIAMSON-KEFU
Majon Williamson-Kefu is of mixed heritage and was born and
raised in Brisbane. She has lived in Central Australia, Sydney
and Moreton Island, and worked in education and community
development, undertaking cross-sectoral partnerships in
Australia, Papua New Guinea and Japan. Her doctoral thesis titled
Enhancing the role of learning about Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Australia in the primary education system developed a
normalisation framework which outlines the need for three levels
of change: classroom practice, teacher education, and system
support structures. Majon hopes to continue this research and
effect genuine change in learning and teaching practices.
From Abstract – PhD thesis, Majon Williamson: This research was
designed as a social scientific study in the discipline of education.
The research specifically sought to understand how the role of
learning and teaching around Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Australia is experienced in and around Australian primary school
classrooms, as well as examining the contexts in which these
classrooms function.

White Cockatoo Dancers leading
the academic procession at Batchelor Campus
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Bridging Cultures
Internationally
Since 2016, Batchelor Institute’s Preparation for Tertiary Success
(PTS) course and the Indigenous Student Success Cohort
(ISSC) from the University of Lethbridge in Alberta, Canada,
have been working together in ‘allyship’ (a term referring to
ethical, intercultural collaboration). Led by Joanne Forrest,
based in Darwin and by Dr Michelle Hogue in Alberta, the aim
is to connect the student and educator professional experience,
bridge understanding, and promote collaborative scholarship,
publications and projects. Joanne and Michelle’s extensive
research collaboration continued into 2019 with a published
chapter and a submission for the World Indigenous Peoples
Conference on Education (WIPCE) 2020. Dr Michelle Hogue
also published in the field of Indigenous science education with
Batchelor Institute lecturer Dr Joel Rioux and adjunct Dr Michael
Michie. In late 2019 an ‘Insight’ grant application was made to
the Canadian Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council
to support the bridging cultures project over the next four years
to investigate allyship in best practice and improve Indigenous
higher education outcomes. The result of the grant application
will be known in early 2020.

Indigenous Student Success Cohort - University of Lethbridge
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Student Services
2019
SECURITY & STUDENT
2019
ENQUIRIES
DISCIPLINARY
MATTERS
(COMMUNICATIONS)
Disciplinary Action
in Semester 1

1

2019
2019
INDIGENOUS
TUTORIAL
INDIGENOUS
TUTORIAL
ASSISTANCE
SCHEME
ASSISTANCE SCHEME

(COM

725

Enquires Email
Phone Call

511

Urban
Tutors
4

HUB Spot

412
325

Registered
Tutors
15

Remote
Tutors
6

32
SEMESTER 1

16
SEMESTER 2

Phone calls and emails are inclusive of general
enquiries regarding Batchelor Institute and
Enrolment enquiries.

2019
RESIDENTIAL SERVICES
(BATCHELOR CAMPUS)

HUB Spot is the online enrolment enquiries.

Semester 1

686
11
External Clients

23

Staff

14

Children
Students

Semester 2

2019
RESIDENTIAL SERVICES
(BATCHELOR CAMPUS)

507
9
13
14
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2019
STUDENT SUPPORT
- REQUEST FOR SERVICES
(DESERT PEOPLE CAMPUS)

2019
STUDENT SUPPORT
REQUEST FOR SERVICES
(DESERT PEOPLE CAMPUS)
20

Semester 1
Semester 2

15

10

5

0
Confirmation of
Enrolment

Human Servicces Social & Emotional
Wellbeing Support

Student and
Staff ID

HE Assistance

Community
Engagement

Student
Orientations

2019
ENROLMENT
ENQUIRIES

2019
ENROLMENT
ENQUIRIES
SEMESTER 1
SEMESTER
1
35

SEMESTER 2
SEMESTER
2

34

10
30

26

34

5

15
80

150
Northern Territory

Queensland

Western Australia

South Australia

New South Wales

2019
ENROLMENT
ENQUIRIES

18
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Semester 1

VET Packages Distributed

2019
ENROLMENT
ENQUIRIES

259
Semester 2

160
Total Enrolled

123

2019
INDIGENOUS TUTORIAL
ASSISTANCE SCHEME
REQUESTS AND
DELIVERY LOCATIONS

2019
INDIGENOUS TUTORIAL
ASSISTANCE SCHEME
REQUESTS AND
DELIVERY LOCATIONS

8

Batchelor
Alice Springs

7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
Cert III in ECEC

Dip ECEC

ATSI PHC

Indigenous
Media Unit

Cert I-III in
Visual Arts

Cert I-III in
Business

Cert III in
Com Services

Cert III Education
Cert IV
Support
Education Support

Cert I-III in CLM

2019
STUDENT SUPPORT
- REQUEST FOR SERVICES
(BATCHELOR CAMPUS)

2019
STUDENT SUPPORT
REQUEST FOR SERVICES
(BATCHELOR CAMPUS)
150

120

Semester 1
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Vocational Education
And Training
In 2019, Batchelor Institute’s ability to bridge
First Nations and Western knowledge systems
and practices, and its effective collaboration
with industry, contributed to the continued
success of our Vocational Education and
Training (VET) students.
This education model, and its culturally appropriate design
and delivery of courses, supported students to attain industry
approved qualifications, access pathways to higher education,
and to further industry skills, employment and career progression.
Most importantly, VET students also developed life-long learning
practices, resilience and confidence.
Batchelor Institute offers a range of accredited (VET) courses
with a strong record and commitment to quality and community
focused delivery to Indigenous students in regional, remote and
very remote areas.
In 2019 the VET Division continued to actively engage with
industry and community organisations to enhance the range
of courses offered, meet skills demand and ensure high quality
outcomes and employment prospects. Operations remained
resilient and extremely flexible – a requirement when delivering
quality training to regional and remote centres across the
Northern Territory.

BUSINESS, GOVERNANCE AND FOUNDATION
SKILLS
The introduction of changes to the National Business Services
Training Package underpinned the delivery of Batchelor Institute’s
Business, Governance and Foundation Skills courses in 2019.
A concerted effort was made to ensure training continued to
comply with ASQA standards, and instruction methods were
moulded to best meet client/student needs.
Delivery included ‘face-to-face’ on-campus sessions in Batchelor
and Alice Springs with ongoing off-campus block intensives and
supplementary support; and ‘face-to-face’ in some regional,
remote and very remote communities across the Northern
Territory.
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The national reaccreditation of Foundation Skills courses resulted
in Batchelor Institute entering into a ‘teach out’ phase and
students were able to complete their course by year’s end.

COMMUNITY SERVICES
The Certificate Level III in Community Services reflects the role
of entry-level workers who support individuals and provide
person-centred services. This may include day-to-day support
of clients in community or implementation of community-based
programs.
This course is conducted over twelve months with participants
from all around the Northern Territory, mainly from nongovernment organisation (NGO) service providers. The course is
often the students’ first introduction into the workforce and for
some participants it may take two years to complete.
In 2019 delivery of Community Services training continued for
young mothers in the Palmerston area as part of a partnership
between the NT Department of Education, NT Health and
Batchelor Institute. The training was also delivered at Kalkarinji
community for the first time, with fifteen participants due to
complete the course in 2020.

CONSERVATION AND LAND MANAGEMENT
The Conservation and Land Management team had a productive
year continuing delivery to established industry partners in
the Central Australian and North East Arnhem regions while
developing relationships and training into the Top End.
Partnerships were maintained with the twelve ranger groups
operated by the Central Land Council, Dhimurru Aboriginal
Corporation and Yirrkala School; and new agreements were
made with the Northern Land Council, Urapuntja Aboriginal
Corporation, Tjuwanpa Women Rangers, Ironbark Aboriginal
Corporation, and McArthur River Mine.
In addition to the Certificate Levels I, II and III in Conservation and
Land Management, the Certificate Level IV was reinstated and
available for students in 2019.
Training was delivered in twelve communities across the Northern
Territory as well as at the Institute’s Batchelor and Alice Springs
campuses.

Community graduation held at Yirrkala

A total of 229 students commenced or continued training
representing an increase of 50 per cent from 2018.

qualifications. A new relationship with Youthworx, Wise
Employment and the Foundation of Rehabilitation with
Aboriginal Alcohol Related Difficulties (FORWAARD) led to many
job-related outcomes.

The Conservation and Land Management team also submitted
credit transfers for 200 units from students who had completed
training with other Registered Training Organisations (RTOs),
allowing them to progress through qualifications.

EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE

Staff attended a range of industry events including the NT
Natural Resource Management Conference, The Northern Land
Council Ranger Forum, the CLC Ranger Camp and the Australian
Wildlife Management Society Conference.

At the start of 2019, the Early Childhood team focused on student
completion of either Certificate Level III or Diploma in Early
Childhood Education and Care prior to endorsement of a new
training package and to meet the associated ‘teach out’ period.

Dione Kelly from Lajamanu, a Certificate Levels II and III graduate
in Conservation and Land Management, was a finalist in the
2019 NT Training Awards in the VET Student of the Year category.

In the Top End, the Katherine-based lecturer delivered workshops
in Borroloola, Wadeye and Batchelor, and a new lecturer based
in Alice Springs re-established regional relationships and worked
closely with organisations responsible for remote child care
services.

The Conservation and Land Management team is looking
forward to maintaining industry partnerships and expanding
delivery to new ranger groups across the territory in 2020.

CONSTRUCTION
It was a very positive year for the Construction team. Certificate
Level II courses were delivered for the first time at Kalano and Tiwi
Island communities; and, through a new relationship with the
Victoria Daly Regional Council, at Timber Creek and Yarralin with
assistance from Batchelor Institute’s Resource and Infrastructure
team.
The remote training conducted at Maningrida continued to be
popular with courses being delivered over the past few years. The
high rate of successful completions is in part attributed to the
Institute’s trainer who has built strong community connections
and relationships over this period.
A highlight of the year was the training delivered in Palmerston
and a tripling in the number of Certificate Level II Construction
participants with some attaining ‘white card’ and forklift

‘It’s been an amazing year
thanks to your support and
guidance. All the educators
have achieved so many
goals and made so much
progress.
I am truly thankful that
you came to Alice”.
- Alice Springs based Early Childhood Education
and Care student 2019

Annual Report 2019

21

Negotiations with the Central Desert and MacDonnell regional
councils led to their workers attaining qualifications. Weekly
workshops held with students and Alice Springs services were a
great success with organisations releasing their staff/Institute
students to work on units with the visiting lecturer. The ability to
receive immediate feedback and at the workplace contributed to
significant progress. Attendance to the remote workshops proved
more difficult with a lack of staff to back-fill students’ positions
whilst they participated.
Our Early Childhood team had a very successful year. Increased
on-the-job engagement with the sector and service providers
enhanced the level of support our students received for unit
completion and their overall professional development.

to achieve their learning goals and upgrade their skills and
qualifications in a supportive environment. There was an increase
in the number of pre-school and early primary school teaching
assistants enrolling in the Early Childhood Education course with
the support of their employers.
The Aboriginal Assistant Teachers (AAT) employed by the NT
Government are required to upgrade their qualifications in
line with workforce development directions. The collaborative
partnership between Batchelor Institute and NT Schools has
meant students are supported in their work in the classrooms
and able to complete assessment requirements.

FAMILY WELLBEING
EDUCATION
The delivery of Certificate Level III and IV in Education Support
and Diploma of Education offered by Batchelor Institute
continues to support assistant teachers to improve their skills
and become better practitioners in the classroom.
In 2019 the Education team contributed to the development of
new training packages, due to be endorsed in late 2020, and
were involved in internal and external audit processes.
The relationship and lines of communication with our major
stakeholder, the NT Department of Education, continued to be
developed. This ensures students have the best opportunity

The five-week Certificate Level II in Family Wellbeing is not
directly linked to vocational outcomes. It provides participants
with the skills and knowledge to address unresolved personal
and community issues that impact individuals and families, and
ways to deal with life challenges. These challenges may include
grief and trauma, self- harm, identity questions, abuse of alcohol
and other drugs, family violence, and over-representation in the
justice system.
Participants learn to take ownership of, and address, their
personal issues and to seek assistance from relevant services.
They also develop self-confidence to enter vocational training,
employment or further education.

Our Health, Our Way! 25 Years of Health Leadership Conference.
Our Chair Ms Pat Anderson AO, Batchelor Institute staff and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care students.
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(Above l-r) Health students: Teagan Connop, Tanya Yorren,
Stuart Manawara, John Mawson, James Marrawal and
Clinton Washington
(At right) Media students: Victor Weetra, Sean Leeway,
Dianna Ross and Daryl Ware

The course has attracted very positive feedback from
participants who ranged from high school students
to elders. It was delivered in communities including Jabiru,
Galiwin’ku, Maningrida and Nyirripi.

HEALTH
In 2019 there was an increase in completion numbers for the
Certificate Level IV in Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander
Primary Health Care Practice. There was also a younger cohort
of students applying from the Northern Territory, Western
Australian, Queensland and South Australian health services.
This demand for training of new entrants into the profession was
countered by an overall decrease in health training in anticipation
of outcomes from the NT Department of Health career structure
review. A new structure is to be introduced 1 January 2020 to
better align qualifications and experience and ensure higher
education levels for practitioners.
Batchelor Institute’s ongoing collaboration with national
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health services ensured the
training needs of their workforce continued to be met. This is
supported by the strong partnerships with a number of health
services who support the training of their staff with the Institute.
These are:
[ NT Department of Health - Top End and Central Australia
[ Aboriginal Medical Services Association NT (AMSANT)
[ Danila Dilba Health Service
[ Wurli-Wurlinjang Health Service
[ Miwatj Health, and
[ Central Australian Aboriginal Congress.
Two graduates in Certificate Level IV received 2019 Aboriginal
Health Professional Awards which are conducted annually by the
NT Department of Health. Darryn Braun from Danila Dilba Health
Service and Megan Munckton from Tennant Creek Hospital each
won New Practitioner Awards. The Institute’s Teresa Raines was
also a finalist in the 2019 NT Training Awards for VET Teacher/
Trainer of the Year Award.

MEDIA
Two new lecturers, one proudly a graduate from the Diploma
of Media, commenced in 2019 which was a year of renewal and
development of the Media unit.
The team of students and lecturers from Certificate Level III in
Screen and Media (Radio) and Certificate Level IV in Screen and
Media (Video Production) made great inroads reconnecting with
the Remote Indigenous Media Organisations (RIMOs). These
included CAAMA, PAKAM, NG Media, TSIMA in Torres Strait, PY
Media and PAW Media; as well as TEABBA who have been in the
Batchelor Institute ‘media family’ since its inception.
Much of the engagement involved attendance at events
coordinated by the First Nations Media Australia (FNMA - the
national peak body) including the Remote Indigenous Media
Festival held on Thursday Island in September. It was attended
by over 170 Indigenous media practitioners, broadcasters and
commissioning editors from around the country. The Media
students undertook course training and on-the-job assessment
activities while participating in the festival.
This was also the case in Alice Springs in May during the inaugural
Festival of Remote Australian Indigenous Moving Image (FRAIM)
hosted by Indigenous Community TV (ICTV). Students and staff
utilised facilities at the ICTV studios, Imparja, CAAMA and First
Nations Media Australia. In the second week of the festival,
students participated in a FRAIM workshop alongside Indigenous
content providers from across remote Australia.
The two Media lecturers also attended the FNMA annual national
conference – Converge – held in Alice Springs in November. It
covered all aspects of the radio, television and digital content
sectors including training.
These opportunities were extremely valuable. Students were
able to develop technical skills such as using audio recording
devices, editing and mixing sound, microphone techniques, data
management and scheduling.
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Council, training took place in Lajamanu, Nitijpurru (Pigeon Hole),
Kalkarindji, Yarralin, Bulla and Timber Creek.
The Roper Gulf Regional Council collaborated on the delivery of
courses to the remote communities of Numbulwar, Mataranka,
Jilkminggan and Minyerri and training was also conducted at
Wurrumiyanga and Milikapiti on the Tiwi Islands, and at Ngukurr,
Barunga, Gunbalanya and Maningrida.
The team also worked with Ironbark Aboriginal Corporation to
deliver training to local participants at Adelaide River, Dundee
and Belyuen as part of their job search program.
Students and lecturers were able to learn directly from broadcasters
and content makers and gain a first-hand understanding of
industry, their professional skills and training needs.
Student exposure to a range of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people with diverse cultures, knowledge systems, languages and
traditions provided them with a unique opportunity to learn how
to connect and interact respectfully and build a strong foundation
as advocates for our people and as members of the First Nations
Radio, Film and Television industry.
Following a solid year reconnecting with industry, inquiries
regarding Batchelor Institute’s 2020 courses became more
frequent and many new students registered as soon as the
enrolments opened in November.

RESOURCE AND INFRASTRUCTURE
The Resources and Infrastructure team had another successful
year achieving targets and extending delivery to the western
region of Katherine. Working with the Victoria Daly Regional

For the first time, Certificate Level I in Automotive Vocational
Preparation was delivered to remote communities in the Top End.
This was very well received, and courses are scheduled to continue
in 2020 along with an expansion of training based on industry
and community demand.

VISUAL ARTS
Batchelor Institute continued to deliver visual arts training
essential to supporting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
expression, culture, knowledges and economic development.
In 2019, on-campus students developed an Alice Springs exhibition
that was held during the Institute’s September graduation
ceremony at the Desert Peoples Centre (DPC). It coincided with
the Desert Mob Festival and art Marketplace and students were
able to learn exhibition practice and business skills ‘first-hand’.
They also engaged in public art creation with the production of
a series of six small murals that were installed in the Art building
at the DPC.
A growing demand for visual arts
training will guide delivery in 2020 with
lecturers based in both Alice Springs
and Batchelor campuses. It will see the
revitalisation of the batik tradition of
the northern Central Australian region
and a commitment to upskilling visual
arts students. Textiles and fashion
development will continue to be a focus
with students learning batik and dyeing
traditions of Indigenous cultures.

Timber Creek Resources and Infrastructure training
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Academic procession at Batchelor campus

VET QUALITY ASSURANCE

The quality assurance strategies ensure:
reliable and accurate assessment of quality and compliance
frameworks
[ strengthened confidence in the VET management processes,
meeting both mandatory legislative and regulatory
standards and best practice, and
[ support for Batchelor Institute’s aspiration to be “Australia’s
Leader in First Nations Vocational Education and Training
and Higher Education Research”
[

The VET Quality Assurance (QA) team develops and
maintains a quality assurance framework that supports,
and is compliant with, the National VET Quality
Framework and its regulatory standards. The team carries
out systematic activities and internal audits to ensure
practices, qualifications and industry requirements are
met, and compliance with the Federal Government’s
Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA) standards.

INTERNAL AND DESKTOP AUDITS
All VET staff take responsibility for the quality assurance of VET
Operations.
The VET QA team contributes to the overarching quality
assurance process through:
[ the annually updated Quality Management Plan
[ the Quality Assurance Strategy
[ a quality approach to continuous improvement strategy, and
[ quality control measures such as desktop and internal audits,
monitoring resources for industry compliance, performance
outcomes, evaluation analysis and risk management.
Three of the main tools utilised for quality assurance are
internal and spot audits, evaluation analysis, and continuous
improvement processes such as systematic validations and
industry engagement.
Batchelor Institute’s Industry Engagement Strategy further
ensures VET delivery and assessment meets, and is informed
by, current industry practice while maintaining the vocational
currency of lecturers.
QUALITY CONTROL SYSTEMS
Systematic monitoring of internal systems, strategies and
practices allows a quick response to changes in the industry
marketplace and/or stakeholder expectations.

During 2019, the VET QA team conducted five internal audits.
These focused on possible high-risk areas: assessment practices
and resources, and training and assessment strategies;
validations; industry engagement; student management; and
VET lecturer vocational and training competence.
Audit outcomes identified no major compliance issues and
improvement requirements were adopted within a short
timeframe. Batchelor Institute continues to provide a quality
educational service to our students and staff through the
implementation of quality assurance management systems.
QUALITY ASSURANCE ADVISORY PANEL
The Institute’s Compliance Review Panel first met in late 2019. It
is chaired by Jo Pyne, Chief Academic Officer TAFE Queensland,
and provides advice on all industry sectors in line with the
Institute’s continuous improvement strategies across all VET
operations. This includes commissioning of internal audits,
industry engagement, validations and assessment practices. The
panel reports to the Institute’s Executive Leadership Team and
Finance Audit and Risk Management Committee.

STUDENT ADMINISTRATION
Student Administration continued to work through existing
organisational restructure plans and welcomed a Timetabling
and Abstudy Coordinator, created through staffing attrition.
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Attention was also placed on strengthening the understanding
and application of VET fees and VET fee exemptions.
The team supported the two major graduation ceremonies
(Alice Springs and Darwin) and several other community-based
ceremonies. This included administration, all certifications and
the gowning of students, staff and dignitaries.
POLICY AND PROCEDURE DEVELOPMENTS
Internal reports on student course completion, eligibility and
student data to assist academic teaching areas were also
provided. The team either managed or assisted in the update of
the following policies and procedures:
[ timetabling and Abstudy procedures
[ VET enrolment and change of enrolment procedures
[ VET enrolment and fee invoice procedures
[ course completion and graduation procedures, and
[ student administration e-filing and storage procedures.

Liaison with the Australian Health Practitioners Registration
Authority (AHPRA) enabled 15 students, who completed their
training, to register as members, and collaboration with the
NT Department of Education, Assistant Teacher Increment
Progression, enable graduates to apply for relevant increments
related to their employment.
Internal cooperative projects included:
archive and e-records management plan - Records
Information Management team
[ monthly internal reports - Higher Degree by Research
Enrolment report and Financial Payment Advice and
Encumbrance reports.
[

Student Administration is working on continuovus improvement
of all aspects of service. Priorities include the development of
new functions within the Student Management System for VET
and Higher Degree by Research (HDR) areas, additional internal
reporting to allow staff to access information independently, and
on-going services to students during their student journey.

REGULATOR RISK
Student Administration provided information to finance and
auditing bodies and participated in several internal ASQA
audits conducted by the Institute’s VET Quality Assurance area,
supplying identified data, student attendance samples and
feedback.
COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS
The ongoing close working relationship with the Australian Office
of the Student Identifiers Registrar led to the creation of 437
Unique Student Identifiers (USI) during 2019.

2019 National Skill Set Completions NEW
Skill Set Code

Skill Set Title

# of
students

SITSS00050
SITSS00051
Total

FOOD HANDLING
FOOD SAFETY SUPERVISION

34
46
80

2019 National Skill Set Completions NEW
Stand-alone Unit

Stand-alone Unit Title

# of students

CPCCWHS1001
HLTAHW021
HLTAID001
HLTAID002
HLTAID003
HLTAID004
HLTPOP008
RIISAM204D
SITHFAB005
TLILIC0003
Total

Prepare To Work Safely in the Construction Industry
Provide Nutrition Guidance for Specific Health Care
Provide Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation
Provide Basic Emergency Life Support
Provide First Aid
Provide an Emergency First Aid Response in an Education and Care Setting
Develop and Implement Disease Prevention and Control Measures
Operate Small Plant and Equipment
Prepare And Serve Espresso Coffee
Licence to Operate a Forklift Truck

338
25
169
164
164
18
14
29
19
22
962
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2019
VET AT A GLANCE
DELIVERY
LOCATIONS
IN 2019

2019
REMOTE
INDICATOR

48

Inner Regional
0.4%

Very Remote
47.5%

Major Cities
1%
Outer Regional
27.2%
Remote
23.9%

Torres Strait
Island
Languages
0.5%

Cape York
Peninsula
Languages
0.2%
Yolngu
Matha
1.7%

Arnhem Land
and Daly River
Region Languages
11.5%

Northern Desert
Fringe Area Languages
14.2%
Arandic
8.1%

2019
PRIOR TERTIARY
STUDY

Western Desert
Languages
3.2%

Other Australian
Indigenous Languages,
*NEC or specified
60.6%

2019
AUSTRALIAN INDIGENOUS LANGUAGE
SPOKEN AT HOME AT TIME OF ENROLMENT

Has previously
completed a
tertiary course
56%

Has not yet
completed a
tertiary course
44%

*NEC - Not elsewhere classified

Certificate II 27.1%
Certificate III (or Trade Certificate) 21.9%
Certificate I 17.8%
Other education (including certificates
or overseas qualifications not listed) 12%
Certificate IV (or Advanced Certificate/Technician) 10.1%
Diploma (or Associate Diploma) 5.6%
Bachelor Degree or Higher Education 4.2%
Advanced Diploma or Associate Degree 1.3%

2019
PREVIOUSLY COMPLETED
A TERTIARY COURSE
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VET QUALIFICATIONS AND
ACCREDITED COURSES
Training Product Name

Type of Product

Agriculture, Horticulture and Conservation and Land Management Training Package

Training Package

AHC10116

Certificate I In Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

AHC10216

Certificate I in Agrifood Operations

Qualification

AHC21016

Certificate II in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

AHC31416

Certificate III in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

AHC40916

Certificate IV in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

Automotive Retail, Service and Repair Training Package

Training Package

AUR10116

Qualification

Certificate I in Automotive Vocational Preparation

Business Services Training Package

Training Package

BSB10115

Certificate I in Business

Qualification

BSB20115

Certificate II in Business

Qualification

BSB30115

Certificate III in Business

Qualification

BSB41915

Certificate IV in Business (Governance)

Qualification

Community Services

Training Package

CHC22015

Certificate II in Community Services

Qualification

CHC30113

Certificate III in Early Childhood Education and Care

Qualification

CHC30213

Certificate III in Education Support

Qualification

CHC32015

Certificate III in Community Services

Qualification

CHC40213

Certificate IV in Education Support

Qualification

CHC50113

Diploma of Early Childhood Education and Care

Qualification

CHC51308

Diploma of Education Support

Qualification

Construction, Plumbing and Services Training Package

Training Package

CPC10111

Certificate I in Construction

Qualification

CPC20112

Certificate II in Construction

Qualification

CPCCWHS1001 Prepare to Work Safely in the Construction Industry

Stand-alone Unit

TLILIC0003

Stand-alone Unit

Licence to Operate a Forklift Truck

Creative Arts and Culture Training Package

Training Package

CUA10315

Certificate I in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA20715

Certificate II in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA31015

Certificate III in Screen and Media

Qualification

CUA31115

Certificate III in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA41215

Certificate IV in Screen and Media

Qualification
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Foundation Skills Training Package

Training Package

FSK10113

Certificate I In Access to Vocational Pathways

Qualification

FSK20113

Certificate II In Skills For Work and Vocational Pathways

Qualification

Health

Training Package

HLT20113

Certificate II In Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care

Qualification

HLT23215

Certificate II In Health Support Services

Qualification

HLT40113

Certificate IV In Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care

Qualification

HLT40213

Certificate IV In Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care Practice

Qualification

HLT50213

Diploma of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care Practice

Qualification

HLTAHW021

Provide Nutrition Guidance for Specific Health Care

Stand-alone Unit

HLTAID001

Provide Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation

Stand-alone Unit

HLTAID002

Provide Basic Emergency Life Support

Stand-alone Unit

HLTAID003

Provide First Aid

Stand-alone Unit

HLTAID004

Provide an Emergency First Aid Response in an Education and Care Setting

Stand-alone Unit

HLTPOP008

Develop and Implement Disease Prevention and Control Measures

Stand-alone Unit

Metal and Engineering Training Package

Training Package

MEM10105

Qualification

Certificate I In Engineering

Resources and Infrastructure Industry Training Package

Training Package

RII20115

Certificate II In Resources and Infrastructure Work Preparation

Qualification

RII20715

Certificate II In Civil Construction

Qualification

RII30815

Certificate III In Civil Construction Plant Operations

Qualification

RIISAM204D

Operate Small Plant and Equipment

Stand-alone Unit

Tourism, Travel and Hospitality Training Package

Training Package

SIT20416

Certificate II in Kitchen Operations

Qualification

SITHFAB005

Prepare and Serve Espresso Coffee

Stand-alone Unit

SITSS00050

Food Handling

Skill Set

SITSS00051

Food Safety Supervision

Skill Set

Course Code

Course Title

10272NAT

Certificate II in Family Wellbeing

10273NAT

Course in Family Wellbeing Facilitation

10681NAT

Course in Immunisation Training for Aboriginal Health Workers and Aboriginal Health Practitioners

10391NAT

Certificate III in Remote Area Building Repairs and Maintenance

10183NAT

Diploma of Education

10503NAT

Advanced Diploma of Education (Paraprofessional Education Worker) - In teach-out mode until 2021
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MAJOR PROJECTS
CORRECTIONS PROJECT
The fourth year of the Service Level Agreement (SLA) between
Batchelor Institute and the Northern Territory Correctional Services
(NTCS) was marked with strong achievements for both students
and stakeholders. The partnership won a 2019 NT Training Award
in the Industry Collaboration category, acknowleding its many
successes.
Prisoners under the care of NTCS are given opportunities to
improve their English literacy, language and numeracy skills.
Training courses provided by the Instiute can lead directly to
employment and includes engineering, agri-food operations,
food handling, barista skills, visual arts, business studies and
skills qualifications for employment in the construction industry.

Above, Professor Steve Larkin, and below, Wendy Ludwig address
NT Corrections trainees at their Graduation

Three graduation ceremonies took place throughout the year;
at the Alice Springs and Holtze correctional facilities in May,
and again at Holtze in October. These were attended by a
range of dignitaries and guests including, in the Top End, the NT
Attorney General the Hon. Natasha Fyles, the NT Correctional
Services Commissioner Scott McNairn, Batchelor Institute CEO
Professor Steve Larkin, and elders from Tiwi Islands and Wadeye
communities.

Batchelor Institute and NT Corrections won the
Industry Collaboration category of 2019 NT Training
Awards

30 Batchelor Institute

WARLPIRI EDUCATION AND TRAINING TRUST
PROGRAM
In 2019, Batchelor Institute and the Warlpiri Education and
Training Trust (WETT) continued the delivery of services under
two Service Level Agreements (SLAs). These agreements cover
three Learning Centres and an Early Years Learning Centre. The
Central Land Council’s Community Development Unit are the
contract managers.
Parties to the SLAs engaged in ongoing negotiations which
enabled a flexible response to a range of challenges, ensuring
continued operations and delivery of services throughout the
year.
Batchelor Institute maintained access and service delivery at the
learning centres based in Lajamanu, Nyirripi and Willowra and
there was an increase in formal and informal opportunities for
community members to pursue their aspirations.

In 2019 there were two intakes for AIDP and for REDC course
participants. This required strong collaboration across Batchelor
Institute teams who delivered:
[ teaching and mentoring
[ cultural support
[ activities
[ accommodation, catering and cleaning, and
[ student transportation.
The Certificate Level II in Skills for Work and Vocational Pathways
was delivered covering the areas of literacy and numeracy,
work safety, ‘white card’ accreditation and first aid, as well as
a range of Defence training and guidance programs. Certificate
Level II in Community Services was also delivered to a number of
participants to supplement their upskilling.
The relationship with the Department of Defence solidified during
this first year of the three-year service contract, along with the
confidence in Batchelor Institute’s quality of service, effective
delivery model and student outcomes.

The Institute met all delivery obligations as per the Willowra
Early Years Learning Centre Program agreement. Young
children and their carers participated in and contributed to the
positive early learning experiences for the community.

VET IN SCHOOLS
In 2019 Batchelor Institute entered into a Vocational
Education and Training in Schools (VETIS) agreement
with the NT Department of Education for the delivery of
Certificate Level II in Conservation Land Management at
Yirrkala School.

ARMY INDIGENOUS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
REGIONAL FORCE SURVEILLANCE UNIT EDUCATION & DEVELOPMENT COURSE
Batchelor Institute won an open tender process to deliver the
Army Indigenous Development Program (AIDP) and the Regional
Force Surveillance Unit - Education and Development Course
(REDC) for a three-year period covering 2019 to 2021.

(Above) AIDP participants parade
(Top left) Nyirripi Learning Centre - Story Time with Fiona Gibson and
Elaine Williams; and (right) Susan Ryder and Karen Khan undertaking
Family Wellbeing training
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2019
VET AT A GLANCE
2019
STUDENT
GENDER
BREAKDOWNS
Women

Personal development
10.3%

Men

2019
WHY STUDENTS
CHOOSE TO STUDY AT
BATCHELOR INSTITUTE

Other
3.3%

Not specified
1%
To get a job
43%

To get into another
course of study
0.9%
I wanted extra skills
20.6%

To develop
existing business
0.8%
To start my own business
0.9%
To change career
1.7%

Requirement of my job
14.2%

38.2%

To get a better job
or promotion
3.3%

61.5%

* < 1% unspecified gender

2010-2019
COURSE
COMPLETIONS
425

433

440

2010

2011

2012
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1003

696

659

2013

2014

1053

734

2015

2016

2017

691

724

2018

2019

45
NUMBER OF
QUALIFICATIONS
DELIVERED
IN 2019

Did not go to school
Not specified

14.9%

Year 10
Year 11
Year 12
DELIVERY
LOCATIONS
IN 2019

Not Specified
1.3%

Employer
0.2%

6.7%

Year 9 or equivalent

Full-time
employee
28.6%

Unemployed seeking full-time work
44.6%

9.1%

Year 8 or lower

Not employed not seeking employment
4.7%
Unemployed seeking part-time work
5.0%

0.8%

2019
HIGHEST LEVEL
OF SCHOOL
COMPLETED

25.8%
22.4%

48

20.3%

2019
MAIN LANGUAGE
SPOKEN AT HOME
Australian
Indigenous
Languages
55%

English
41%

Part-time
employee
15.2%
Self-employed not employing others
0.1%

Other
4%

Employed - unpaid
worker in a family business
0.1%

2019
EMPLOYMENT STATUS
AT TIME OF ENROLMENT
Aboriginal
82.8%

2019
AQF
LEVELS
Advanced Diploma 0.4%
Diploma 4%
Certificate IV 8.4%
Certificate III 14.8%
Certificate I 30.6%
Certificate II 41.7%

Neither Aboriginal
nor Torres Strait
Islander
12.5%
Both Aboriginal
and Torres
Strait Islander
3.1%

Torres Strait Islander
1.7%

2019
ABORIGINAL
AND/OR TORRES STRAIT
ISLANDER IDENTIFIED

^These figures are by Course Attempt, and not by Student Attempt, as individual
students may enrol in multiple qualifications of varying AQF Level in the same academic year.
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Higher Education
2019
COURSE COMPLETIONS
BY COURSE LEVEL

Under the partnership agreement with Charles
Darwin University (CDU), the Institute’s
Higher Education academic staff contributed
significantly to the teaching, redevelopment
and review across all degree programs.

Diploma 11%
Bachelor Pass 17%
Enabling 72%

This was mainly in the areas of languages and
linguistics, and social science.
Staff worked closely with CDU Colleges, in
particular the College of Education, the College
of Nursing and Midwifery, and the College of
Indigenous Futures, Arts and Society (CIFAS).

time encourage returning students to continue and complete
their studies. Due to these efforts the School again exceeded the
projected EFTSL in 2019. Some of the Higher Education lecturers
also offered to teach in the CDU summer semester and in CDU’s
‘Grow Our Own’ (GOO) program.
HIGHLIGHTS
LINGUISTICS AND LANGUAGE

SCHOOL OF UNDERGRADUATE STUDIES
In 2019, the School of Undergraduate Studies contributed to and
delivered units within the following courses:
[ Preparation for Tertiary Success
[ Bachelor of Early Childhood Teaching
[ Bachelor of Education Primary
[ Bachelor of Applied Social Science
[ Bachelor of Indigenous Languages and Linguistics
[ Bachelor of Nursing Pre-Registration
[ Associate degree in Social Science
[ Associate Degree in Indigenous Languages and Linguistics
[ Diploma of Creative Indigenous Writing
[ Diploma of Indigenous Language Work
[ Diploma of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Knowledges
The framework of Scholarship of Teaching and Learning (SoTL)
continued to guide the School of Undergraduate Studies in the
promotion of a teaching and learning environment of the highest
quality.
Academic staff were encouraged and supported to upgrade
qualifications and the majority are PhD recipients or completing
Masters degrees. The academic staff ensured students were able
to achieve their education goals in a culturally enriching and safe
environment.
The School of Undergraduate Studies and the academic staff
continued to work hard to attract new students, while at the same
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[

[

[

[

Let’s Talk Aboriginal Languages - Batchelor Institute, CDU
and the NT Aboriginal Interpreter Service held a symposium
celebrating the International Year of Indigenous Language in
Darwin, 31 May 2019. Three presentations were given by six
Batchelor staff and the event was recorded and uploaded to
YouTube.
Batchelor Institute was a proud supporter of the 2019
Puliima Indigenous Languages and Technology Conference,
held in Darwin from 19–23 August. The Institute’s Linguistics
and Language education students gave a presentation to
a large audience under the title ‘Student Voices: Addressing
the Challenges of Working with and Teaching Indigenous
Australian Languages’.
Linguistics and Languages staff from Batchelor Institute
contributed to the Australian linguistics world/networks to
further promote the Institute’s work and linguistics courses,
e.g. sending out regular updates to the Australian Linguistics
Society (ALS) newsletter and collaborating with diverse
partners through regular meetings with Teaching Australian
Indigenous Languages (TAIL) NT.
From April to September 2019, the linguistics staff were part
of the Reference Group for Resource Network of Linguistic
Diversity (now Living Languages) to support and advise
them on the re-accreditation of their Certificate Level III in
Aboriginal Languages for Communities and Workplace (now
Certificate Level III in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Language Work).
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DELIVERY
LOCATIONS
IN 2019

UNIT ATTEMPTS
IN 2019

Bachelor
Pass
28%

2019
UNIT ATTEMPTS
BY COURSE LEVEL

Associate
Degree
1%
Diploma
16%

GRADUATIONS 2019
[

[
[

Sharman Derani Parsons and Grace Marie-Ann Tongatua
graduated in October 2019 from the Bachelor of Indigenous
Languages and Linguistics.
Charlee Horni graduated from the Associate Degree of
Indigenous Languages and Linguistics.
Cari Nicole Bertram and Benjamin Mark Stuckey graduated
from the Diploma of Indigenous Language Work.

PREPARATION FOR TERTIARY SUCCESS

Enabling
55%

SOUTH AUSTRALIA NORTHERN TERRITORY
PROMOTING EXCELLENCE NETWORK
The School of Undergraduate Studies, on behalf of Batchelor
Institute, continued to lead the Network for the fourth year in a
row. The South Australia Northern Territory Promoting Excellence
Network (SANTPEN) is a collegial network that promotes the
principles of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning and
sharing good practices and resources in this area. SANTPEN is a
multi-institutional project partnered with Flinders University, the
University of South Australia, the University of Adelaide, Tabor
Adelaide and Charles Darwin University.

The Preparation for Tertiary Success (PTS) units offer the first step
in an education pathway to further Higher Education options
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students. The course is
designed to help students acquire the necessary academic skills
to succeed in their chosen field of study in a culturally safe and
caring environment.

In 2019, SANTPEN, under the leadership of the Head of
Undergraduate Studies, ran several workshops in both Adelaide
and Darwin to support academic staff in their submission for
national awards. SANTPEN organised an awards ceremony for
winners in Adelaide to celebrate their achievements.

As in the previous year, PTS continued the positive trend of
increasing its enrolments and completion rates in 2019. The
high enrolment figures are a testimony to the quality and
appropriateness of the PTS program for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander students and the high-quality teaching of the staff.
Since winning a national citation for excellence in teaching award
in 2018, other tertiary providers have approached the PTS team
with a desire to share their good practice and showed a genuine
interest of much closer collaboration and working together.

RESEARCH OFFICE

Tinkerbee dancers, Graduands and, seated centre, Dr Rosalie Kunoth-Monks
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The Research Office provided strategic leadership, evaluation,
reporting and support for all research activities across 2019.
The Office continued with the implementation of the Batchelor
Institute Research Plan 2016–2020 and coordinated the
development and review of policy and procedures relating to
research.

3
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DELIVERY
LOCATIONS
IN 2019
The Research Office assisted in the development of several
research grant applications and provided oversight on the grant
management and reporting. It supported several academic
staff with their conference attendance and presentations; and
managed the Research Committee and administered staff/
student research ethics applications in partnership with Australian
Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS).
The Office administered the Commonwealth Research Training
Program (RTP) and Research Support Program (RSP), research
block grants, the Indigenous Student Success Program (ISSP)
and Batchelor Institute’s Adjunct program.
HIGHLIGHTS
KNOWLEDGE INTERSECTIONS SYMPOSIUM 2019,
NOVEMBER 12-13 IN ALICE SPRINGS
The third symposium held in 2019 following successful events
in 2017 and 2018 that allowed researchers working in Central
Australia to share knowledge with peers and research end users.
The event is alternately hosted between CDU and Batchelor
Institutes on an annual basis. The first symposium was hosted
by the Institute at the Desert Peoples Centre in May 2017, and the
second in 2018 was hosted by CDU at their Alice Springs campus.
The success of both events has helped to secure the Knowledge
Intersections Symposium as an annual event. Congratulations
to Dr John Guenther for delivering a very successful symposium.

For Batchelor Institute, these symposia present a meaningful
mechanism for our researchers to share their research interests
and directions. As a relatively small and NT grounded research
entity, Batchelor Institute is committed to showcasing our
important research work and connecting our researchers and
research findings with others who live and work, and value, the
Central Australian region.

BORDERLANDS ONLINE LAUNCH

UNIT ATTEMPTS
IN 2019

Borderlands is a literary journal of the Northern Territory
featuring items from the NT’s best storytellers. It arose from a
research project conceived in 2015 and was eventually funded
for six months in 2018 by Arts NT. A research and fundraising
phase followed, leading to a first call for contributions to a pilot
magazine in April 2019. Guest speaker for the launch at NT
Parliament House was Marie Munkara.
Borderlands aims to become a vibrant storytelling portal where
the Territory’s diverse ‘ideas and identities’ may readily meet
and be heard. The project has been a group effort led from Alice
Springs by Batchelor’s Dr Glenn Morrison in collaboration with
researchers and staff from CDU.
The magazine uses text, oral storytelling, animations, video and
photo-journalism.
www.borderlands.cdu.edu.au

REVIEW OF HIGHER
EDUCATION PROVIDER
CATEGORIES
The review of Higher Education
Category Standards Report, “What’s
in a name?”, led by Emeritus Professor
Peter Coaldrake, was released on
October 15, 2019. Batchelor Institute,
amongst many others, made a
submission to the review. The report’s
main recommendations are for
University categories to be reduced
from five to two (Australian University
and Overseas University in Australia),
and all 131 current higher education
providers to be disaggregated into
two categories (Institute of Higher
Education, and National Institute of
Higher Education).
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PhD graduates Dr Majon Williamson-Kefu, Dr Robyn Ober and Dr Joe Fraser

REVIEW OF ANZSRC – FIELD OF RESEARCH

GRADUATE SCHOOL

The Australian and New Zealand Standard Research
Classification (ANZSRC) is a set of three related classifications
developed for use in the measurement and analysis of research
and experimental development undertaken in Australia and New
Zealand.

The Graduate School proudly doubled its alumni in 2019 with
conferring of the award of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) to three
candidates. The graduates – Dr Anthony (Joe) Fraser, Dr Robyn
Ober and Dr Majon Kefu-Williams (see photo above) – enter the
academic arena representing First Nations knowledges, ready
to change the canon and academic environment in particular
substantial ways. The School continues to produce high-quality
graduates within a culturally safe and supportive environment.

The current ANZSRC Field of Research (FoR) classification system
negatively impacts Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander research,
including how national research evaluation exercises, such as the
Australian Research Council’s Excellence in Research for Australia
(ERA) and Engagement and Impact Assessment (EI), only use the
FoR at the Division (2 digit) and Group (4 digit) level. Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander research currently only occurs at the
Field (6 digit) level, which causes information to become invisible
when analysis and reporting only occurs at higher levels of the
hierarchy.
ANZSRC and the Australian Bureau of Statistics held a number
of workshops and consultations throughout 2019 regarding the
introduction of a new Division FoR Code, specifically to capture
Indigenous research. The proposed new divisional code would be
code ‘23-Indigenous.’
Senior Institute staff and researchers have represented the
Institute throughout the ANZSRC consultation process and two
official Institute responses have been submitted. The proposed
introduction of new coding promises to have significant impact
on the resourcing, funding and recognition of First Nations
research carried out by the Institute, and increases opportunity
for meaningful and equal collaboration. The official ANZSRC
review is due to be completed mid-2020.

A review of academic programs was conducted as part of the
Masters and PhD accreditation and re-accreditation process.
This led to the development of a research training program that
includes four new units. The units will formally connect students
with a body of literature and assessment work that will assist
them to participate in the broader social, cultural and historical
context of First Nations research.
The new online units are:
RTU541 - Grounded practice in local land knowledge
RTU542 - Research Strategy
RTU543 - First Nations theory and methodologies
RTU544 - Research ethics
All four are currently non-award units. They attract no fees or
external funding, have been successfully accredited and will be
ready for roll-out and implementation in Semester 1, 2020.
The review also produced a name change for course offerings,
from Master and Doctor of Philosophy (Indigenous Perspectives)
to MPhil and PhD.
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Enrolements in 2019:
Course Course Title
Code

# of students
enrolled in
2019

MIP

Masters of Indigenous Perspectives
by Research

2

PHD

Doctor of Philosophy (Indigenous
Knowledges)

1

PHDIP

Doctor of Philosophy Indigenous
Perspectives
Female:8

10

Male: 5

Conferral of Awards:
Course Course Title
Code

# of awards
conferred in
2019

PHDIP

3

Doctor of Philosophy Indigenous
Perspectives

Conferral of Honorary Awards:
Course Code

Course Title

# of awards
conferred in
2019

HON-PHD-IN

Doctor of the Institute
Honoris Causa

2

The Batchelor Campus library provided services to the local
community and Batchelor Area School; and the library at the
Desert Peoples Centre campus in Alice Springs also supported
organisations based at the precinct.
The library’s excellent collection includes hard copy as well
as online resources and academic databases. It holds unique
and rare items specifically related to First Nations languages,
history, social issues and politics. Inter-library loans continued
to be available for staff and students, and the library worked
in the areas of copyright, grant applications and maintaining
the research repository. In 2019 the library had over 5500 client
visits, just over 5000 items were circulated, and more than 4500
searches were conducted using the databases.
A significant achievement was the final processing of 10,000
books donated by the ABC Reference Library, with many
now held in both campus libraries and at Batchelor Institute’s
remote Learning Centres. The DPC library was nominated for
the Australian Library and Information Association (ALIA) NT
Recognition Award for this project. Linking in with UNESCO’s
International Year of Indigenous Languages, ALIA’s 2019 theme
was “Indigenous matters”.
The language room at Batchelor campus houses the library’s
main collection of language resources and is a culturally safe
space where Batchelor Institute students, staff and researchers
can use a range of language resources. The dedicated space
makes the collection more accessible, more visible and facilitates
its use by encouraging open dialogue about languages and
keeping places. It generated a renewed interest in the collection.
The language room is complemented by the Centre for Australian
Languages and Linguistics (CALL) Collection.

LIBRARY
The two branches of the Batchelor Institute Library are located
at Batchelor and Alice Springs campuses. Staff at both libraries
work together to identify clients’ needs and provide support to
students, staff and community members. The staff assisted
with on-campus workshops for remote students. In 2019 library
staff endeavored to support all cohorts (HDR candidates, VET,
HE, PTS, Learning Centres, staff and community) with tailored
orientations, information literacy skills programs, advanced
information literacy skills programs, and promoted the library as
a space for study and recreational use.
Library staff from Desert Peoples Centre campus, Amanda
Bethel-Donaldson, Melissa Raymond and Lynn Day
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Staff engaged with the local and national library communities and
attended relevant meetings, conferences and symposiums e.g.
AIATSIS National Indigenous Research Conference and PULiima
2019 (Indigenous Languages and Technology Conference).

[

CENTRE FOR AUSTRALIAN LANGUAGES AND
LINGUISTICS (CALL), CENTRAL AUSTRALIA
The year was another productive year for CALL. It saw
the continuation and realisation of a number of goals
in its pivotal work supporting language revival and
maintenance.
The collaboration with Akeyulerre Inc. Aboriginal organisation
culminated with the launch in late July of the Arrernte Healing
Cards which feature healing stories about Central Desert bush
medicines. CALL provided linguistic and design support towards
the production of this beautiful and culturally valuable resource
which attracted local and national media coverage.
A collaboration with senior language consultant Veronica
Dobson, Eastern and Central Arrernte organisations including
Children’s Ground, Apmere Angkentye-kenhe, Akeyulerre and
with University of Western Australia linguist John Henderson,
produced arrernte-angkentye.online, a ‘first of its kind in Central
Australia’ online language resource. Launched in late November
at Apmere-angkentye-kenhe by a number of the key language
experts, before community members and supporters, it is a
resource that allows users to listen to and read the Arrernte
language from their own mobile devices and computers.
The Pertame language revival project continued to produce
exciting and positive outcomes. The next stage is the MasterApprentice Project Stage 2 which aims to increase the amount of
immersion in the language from Stage 1, the pilot phase, which
was carried out in 2019 with Elder, Christobel Swan as Master.
Additional funds have been secured to continue this work and to
conduct ongoing evaluation.
Other CALL achievements in 2019 were:
Provision of on-the-ground support to the Indigenous team
working on the ANU Child Language Acquisition project,
Warlpiri group, Alice Nelson and Jessie Bartlett. This project
will provide information for communities, health workers and
educators about children’s acquisition of language.
[ Participation in the National project ‘50words.online’ through
collaborations with Melbourne University, Ti Tree School,
WETT/CLC and Nyirrpi Learning Centre. The collaboration
[

[

[

[

[

supported contributed in Eastern and Central Arrernte (Oct
2019), Warlpiri (October 2019), Pintupi (November 2019) and
Anmatyerr (October 2019). Western Arrernte, Pertame and
other languages are to follow.
Contribution to the National 200 sign project working with
University of Melbourne linguist Jenny Green on Eastern and
Central Arrernte and Warlpiri languages. Through this work,
two Warlpiri songs with handsigns, for use in the Warlpiri
bilingual schools, were recorded with Fiona Gibson singing
in November 2019. This continues CALL’s participation in
sign language/songs projects in Warlpiri and Arrernte and
discussions are in place to seek further funding to continue
this work.
Support for the Centralian Senior College Arrernte Tracks
Program to involve students in Central Australian Linguistics
Circle meetings, to support its program, and engage Pertame
students in the CALL Pertame project. By invitation, CALL
participated in the Steering Committee for the Central Land
Council Tracker Training program development.
Continued working with Fiona Napaljarri Gibson, Warlpiri
senior community language consultant and Warlpiri schools
group on curriculum and resource development, primarily on
the production of a print and audio bilingual book, Ngulajuku,
a story about how life was and how it changed (Nyirrpi). Book
is due to be completed in 2020.
Collaboration with Margaret Carew, Northern Territory
Department of Education, began the work to produce
Curriculum/Study Guides for Warlpiri and Arrernte to support
the use of the Healing Cards in schools and the Ngulajuku
book.
Production of a set of high-quality recordings of Eastern
and Central Arrernte Arrernte words and phrases (through
recording with a team of speakers in a studio setting) was
produced. The first stage – three utterances of each of the
words in Arrente-angkentye.online/- was completed in
November 2019. These recordings are available free online as
part of the arrernte-angkentye.online resource.

Another highlight was the awarding of 2019 NAIDOC awards to
three people closely associated with CALL in Central Australia.
Pertame/Arrernte Project Officer Vanessa Farrelly won NAIDOC
Youth of the Year; Senior Pertame language specialist Christobel
Swan won Elder of the Year; and Warlpiri language specialist
Fiona Napaljarri Gibson won the overall NAIDOC Person of the
Year.
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Ph: (08) 8939 7352
Fax: (08) 8939 7354
Email: batchelorpress@batchelor.edu.au
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The new-look Kriol elfabet poster produced in collaboration with the Yugul Mangi
Development Aboriginal Corporation, Ngukurr

BATCHELOR INSTITUTE PRESS
The United Nation’s International Year of Indigenous Languages
in 2019 marked another busy and productive twelve months of
projects and partnerships for Batchelor Institute Press. Activities
continued to centre on the documentation and dissemination of
First Nations languages and knowledges through collaborative
work with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island authors, illustrators,
designers and cultural advisors.
Throughout the year several multi-year projects were progressed
including work on developing a range of language resources
with communities in the Kimberley region, Wadeye, Maningrida,
and Central Australia. A team of young learners of Kimberley
languages – Ngarinyin, Worrorra and Wunambal – participated
in eBook workshops run by the Press in Darwin and Mowanjum
with the launch of the apps scheduled for release in 2020.
The intergenerational language teams at Mowanjum recorded,
transcribed, translated and illustrated a series of creation
stories due for release at the Mowanjum Festival in 2020. The
Press was also involved in organising the Kalumburu launch (in
August 2019) of its 2018 title Belaa Plants and Animals: Bicultural
knowledge of the Kwini people of the far north Kimberley, Australia
which was partially funded through the Mowamjum Endangered
Languages Project.
Considerable work was carried out with speakers of Maningrida/
Central Arnhem Land languages Burarra, Djinang and Wurlaki,
Ndjébanna, Na-kara, Kune and Kuninjku to finalise production
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of a series of posters, readers and storybooks. Documentation
of the languages in and around Wadeye – Murrinhpatha, Marri
Tjevin, Marri Amu, Marri Ngarr, Magati Ke and Jaminjung – was
undertaken to produce language and cultural resources including
supporting the registration of sacred sites through the provision
of previous language publications and archival materials.
Batchelor Institute Press participated in the biennial PULiiMA
Indigenous Languages and Technology conference in Darwin,
the ‘largest community focused national Aboriginal language
conference in Australia’ yet with a distinctly international boost
given the Year of Indigenous Languages.
The Endangered Languages Project provided a number of
speakers at the conference and Batchelor Press presented
a publisher stall which was well-received in terms of sales
and networking opportunities. The Press published its first
Gulumerrdjin (Larrakia) language resource, Gulumerrdjin Madawa
(Larrakia Animals), in time for the conference which was also wellreceived, proving to be the most popular title for the year. This
book for early learners was picked up for national distribution
by the Indigenous Literary Foundation, as was the Press’s 2019
reprint of Kawarla: How to make a coolamon. The Press also
worked with Gulumerrdjin artist Jason Lee on a colouring book
and Darwin alphabet frieze for release in 2020.
In line with the Press’s reputation for up-to-date resources is the
need to work with language speakers and linguists to continually
refine the way languages are presented for educational purposes.
To this end the Press worked with the Yugul Mangi Development

Promoting language revitalisation through vibrant design in Gulumerrdjin Madawa (Larrakia Animals)

Aboriginal Corporation in Ngukkur to update the Kriol elfabet
poster in terms of structure (letters and vowel groupings) and
overall design. The poster was released late 2019 with an
enthusiastic response and will be followed up with a set of Kriol
flash cards and an alphabet frieze in 2020.
By the end of the year the Press commenced work with celebrated
Indigenous elder, Darwin-based ‘Aunty Kathy’ Mills OAM on
the first book of her poetry which draws on her many years
campaigning for Indigenous rights and in particular focuses on
her status as a caretaker of Kungarakan language and culture.
The Press also renewed its partnership with the Kurongkurl
Katitjin, Centre for Indigenous Australian Education and Research
at Edith Cowan University through a commitment to work on
another Noongar culture-related publication in 2020.
PUBLICATIONS
In 2019, Batchelor Institute Press launched a range of language
learning and related resources representing several language
groups across the Northern Territory and Western Australia. These
are largely groups the Press has sustained a working relationship
over decades.

Great Journeys undertaken by Aboriginal people in ancient times
in Western Australia
Moort*
Kawarla: How to make a coolamon (reprint)
Gulumerrdjin (Larrakia) resources including
Gulummerdjin Madawa (book)
Darwin alphabet (frieze and flashcards)*
Gulumerrdjin Larrakia Colouring Book*
Kriol resources including:
Kriol elfabet poster
[ Kriol elfabet frieze and flashcards*
[ Mookanunganuk, Selected Poems by Kathy Mills*
[

Series of posters and readers in Maningrida/Central Arnhem
Land languages (2019, 2020)
Miwal ga Djumbuwal, ‘Spirit Woman and Spirit Boy’ (second
edition)*
Badurru; publisher: ARDS Aboriginal Corporation; design:
Batchelor Institute Press
*indicates work on material developed in 2019 for 2020 release.
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Financial Report
The members of the Batchelor Institute of
Indigenous Tertiary Education (Batchelor
Institute) Council present the following report
on the Batchelor Institute for the year ended
31 December 2019.
MEMBERS
As established under the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education Act 1999 Batchelor Institute’s Council consists of up
to nine members. At the date of signing this report, six of the
seven members, including the Chairperson, were Aboriginal
and/or Torres Strait Islander. Ms Patricia Anderson AO was the
Chairperson from 4 February 2019 and, along with the other
Council members, provides relevant and diverse industry and
cultural representation. The following persons were members of
Batchelor Institute Council during the whole of the year and up to
the date of this report or as otherwise noted:
[ Ms Patricia Anderson AO (Chairperson) was appointed on
4 February 2019 and continues in office at the date
of this report.
[ Professor Boni Robertson was appointed the interim Deputy
Chair 12 December 2018 to 04 February 2019.
[ Professor Steve Larkin was appointed a member on
26 March 2018 and continues in office at the date
of this report.
[ Ms
Vicki Baylis was appointed a member on
01 February 2018 and continues in office at the date
of this report.
[ Mr Liam Fraser was elected a member by staff vote on
14 September 2018 and endorsed by the NT Administrator as
a member on 4 February 2019 and continues in office at the
date of this report.
[ Mr Louis Kantilla was elected a member by students’ vote on
14 September 2018 and endorsed by the NT Administrator as
a member on 4 February 2019. His membership ended on
04 July 2019 when he ceased to be a student of the Institute.
[ Mr Russell Taylor AM was appointed on 4 February 2019 and
continues in office at the date of this report.
[ Ms Lauren Ganley was appointed a member on
4 February 2019 and continues in office at the date of this
report.
[ Mr
Mick Gooda was appointed a member on
22 November 2019 and continues in office at the date of this
report.
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MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Member’s Name

Council
Meetings
A

B

Ms Patricia Anderson AO

3

4

Professor Boni Robertson

1

1

Mr Liam Fraser

4

4

Mr Louis Kantilla

0

2

Ms Lauren Ganley

3

4

Mr Mick Gooda

0

1

Professor Steve Larkin

4

Ms Vicki Baylis
Mr Russell Taylor AM

Finance, Audit
and Risk
Management
Committee
A

B

4

5

5

2

4

3

5

4

4

4

5

Mr Philip Anderson*

5

5

Mr Matthew Kennon*

5

5

A = Number of meetings attended.
B = Number of meetings held during the time the member held
office or was a member of the committee during the year.
* These two are members of the Finance, Audit and Risk
Management Committee only.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the year, the principal continuing activities of Batchelor
Institute included:
a) providing tertiary education relevant to the needs of
Indigenous people; and
b) facilitating, encouraging, developing and improving
study and research, particularly in subjects of relevance to
Indigenous people; and
c) providing other educational programs and courses of study
or instruction, including vocational education and training,
courses of higher education and cultural studies; and
d) accrediting the educational programs and courses offered
by Batchelor Institute.
There were no significant changes in the nature of activities
during the year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND POSITION
For 2019 Batchelor Institute recorded an operating deficit of
$2.7 million (2018: $1.2 million), an increase in losses of $1.5 million.
Revenue increased by $1.4 million (4.3%) in comparison to the
previous year mainly due to:
[

[

Increases in the following:
a) Northern Territory Government funding by $2.2 million
(18.4%) mainly due to:
• Increases in the following program funding:
• The Department of Trade Business and Innovation
general purpose training contract funding by
$1.1 million.
• The Department of Trade Business and Innovation
specific purpose training contract funding by
$0.8 million (which includes the Supplementary
Recurrent Assistance funding, Indigenous Tutorial
Assistance Scheme (VET), Capital Works funding and
VET Equipment grant).
• The Department of Attorney General and Justice
(Corrections contract) by $0.2 million.
• The Department of Infrastructure, Planning and
Logistics (Major Capital Work - Regional Economic
Infrastructure Funding) by $0.1 million.
Offset by decreases in:
a) Fees and charges by $0.1 million (8.2%) mainly due to
reduction in VET student numbers compared to prior year;
b) Consultancy and contracts by $0.5 million (8.8%) due to
an underspend for the WETT project and a decrease in the
ACIKE, Charles Darwin University revenue due to lower
higher education student numbers;
c) Investment income by $0.1 million (27%) due to lower cash
balances during the year and reductions in interest rates;
and
d) Goods and services received free of charge by $0.1 million
(16.9%) due to fewer transactions processed by the
Department of Corporate and Information Services.

Expenses increased by $2.9 million (8.5%) in comparison to
previous year mainly due to:
[ Increases in:
a) Employee related expenses by $3.2 million (14.9%) mainly
due to the backpay in salary increases from 2017 and the
payout of staff voluntary redundancies;
b) Depreciation, repairs and maintenance and borrowing
costs expenses by $0.5 million (29.3%) mainly due to higher
asset value as a result of changes in accounting treatment
of leases, building capital works completed and higher
repairs and maintenance expenses; and
[

Offset by decreases in:
c) Impairment of assets expense by $0.2 million (86.7%)
mainly due to student and other debtors written off in 2018
for which there was no provision from prior years.
d) Services received free of charge by $0.1 million (16.9%) due
to fewer transactions processed by the Department of
Corporate and Information Services.
e) Other expenses by $0.5 million (5.2%) due to lower
expenditure ($1.5 million) for communication and utilities,
consumables, motor vehicles, property management,
recruitment, rental, hire and other expenses; offset by
higher expenditure ($1 million) for advertising, marketing
and promotions, contracted services, insurance premiums,
non-capitalised equipment training and study and travel
expenses.

The overall cash position of Batchelor Institute decreased by
$2.6 million (26%) between the years mainly due to backpay in
salary increases from 2017 and non-achievement of targets for
the training contract.
ASSET PURCHASES AND CAPITAL WORKS
During 2019, Batchelor Institute completed major capital
works amounting to $0.6 million and had major capital works
in progress amounting to $0.5 million for the refurbishment of
campus ceilings and roofing, upgrading the fire alarm equipment,
upgrading of student kitchen and equipment, flood mitigation
and various emergency works.
MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
YEAR
The spread of Coronavirus (COVID-19) was declared a public
health emergency by the World Health Organisation on
31 January 2020 and upgraded to a global pandemic on
11 March 2020. The rapid rise of the virus has seen an
unprecedented global response by Governments, regulators and
industry sectors. The Australian Federal Government enacted its
emergency plan on 29 February 2020 which has seen the closure
of Australian borders from 20 March, an increasing level of
restrictions on corporate Australia’s ability to operate, significant
volatility and instability in financial markets and the release of a
number of government stimulus packages to support individuals
and businesses as the Australian and global economies face
significant slowdowns and uncertainties. This has required
Batchelor Institute to assess whether and how they are affected,
and the impact on their ongoing operations.
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The impact post 31 December 2019 on Batchelor Institute required
the short term ceasing of face to face classes on campuses,
changes in the way courses are delivered and also impacted
the ability to fulfil a number of contracts. Batchelor Institute
has been working closely with its students, Commonwealth and
Territory governments and its other customers in order to continue
operations and limit impacts, as well as explore applicable
government stimulus opportunities. The overall financial impact
of COVID-19 has not been fully quantified for the 2020 financial
year.
However, based on negotiations and discussions with the
Commonwealth and Territory governments who provide the core
Batchelor Institute funding and other customers and performing
cash flow forecasting, Batchelor Institute’s assessment has
concluded that:
1. There is no material financial impact on the 2019 Annual
Financial Statements due to COVID-19, as a post balance
sheet date event; and
2. Batchelor Institute is a going concern and that 2019
Annual Financial Statements should be prepared as
such and COVID-19 will not materially impact its ongoing
operations.
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
Likely developments in the operations of Batchelor Institute
and the expected results of those operations in future financial
years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of
such information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to
Batchelor Institute.
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INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
Batchelor Institute has professional indemnity insurance that
covers members of Council and its committees and officers
against claims arising from their involvement in the activities of
Batchelor Institute.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF BATCHELOR INSTITUTE
There were no proceedings ongoing against Batchelor Institute
as at the end of the reporting period.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the
members of the Council.

Ms Patricia Anderson AO
Chair of Council
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education
25th day of May 2020
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Economic Entity
Note

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

3.1

13,603

13,624

3.2

13,861

11,702

Fees and charges

3.3

594

647

Consultancy and contracts

3.4

5,029

5,512

Other revenue

3.5

459

528

Investment income

4

138

189

Goods and services received free of charge

5

511

615

38

3

34,233

32,820

Revenue and income from continuing operations
Australian Government financial assistance
Australian Government grants
State and local government financial assistance
Northern Territory Government grants

Gains on disposal of assets *
Total income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations
Employee related expenses

6

24,471

21,289

Depreciation and amortisation

7

2,190

1,669

Repairs and maintenance

8

286

263

Borrowing costs

9

23

-

Impairment of assets

10

33

249

Goods and services received free of charge

5

511

615

Other expenses

11

9,451

9,973

Total expenses from continuing operations

36,965

34,058

Net result for the year

(2,732)

(1,238)

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

(2,732)

(1,238)

Comprehensive result

*Previously disclosed as part of Other Revenue, 2019 disclosure changed to comply with the Department of Education Financial Statement
Guidelines for 2019. Comparatives have been restated accordingly.

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Economic Entity
Note

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Assets

*Restated

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

12

7,448

10,066

Receivables and contract assets

13

2,138

935

Other financial assets

14

462

544

8

-

10,056

11,545

Other non-financial assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

15

31,139

31,326

Intangible assets

16

15

-

Total non-current assets

31,154

31,326

Total assets

41,210

42,871

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

17

2,764

1,796

Lease liabilities

18

448

-

Provisions*

19

3,651

3,727

Other financial liabilities

20

3,071

3,701

9,934

9,224

361

-

361

-

Total liabilities

10,295

9,224

Net assets

30,915

33,647

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

18

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Reserves

21

30,741

30,741

Retained earnings

21

174

2,906

30,915

33,647

Total equity
*Refer to Note 19. Provisions, which outlines the reclassifications
The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Note

Balance at 1 January 2019
Net result for the year
Balance at 31 December 2019

21

Balance at 1 January 2018
Adoption of AASB 9 adjustment
Balance as restated
Net result for the year
Balance at 31 December 2018

21

Economic Entity
Reserves

Retained
Surplus

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

30,741

2,906

33,647

-

(2,732)

(2,732)

30,741

174

30,915

30,741

4,572

35,313

-

(428)

(428)

30,741

4,144

34,885

-

(1,238)

(1,238)

30,741

2,906

33,647

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Economic Entity
Note

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Australian Government Grants

13,409

16,866

State Government Grants

11,984

14,472

6,141

7,039

138

189

(33,024)

(31,613)

(23)

-

33

98

(78)

-

(7)

-

(1,427)

7,051

38

-

(713)

(442)

(675)

(442)

Repayment of lease liabilities

(518)

-

Receipts of Lease Receivables

2

-

(516)

-

(2,618)

6,609

10,066

3,457

7,448

10,066

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from student fees and other customers
Interest received
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest and other costs of finance
GST recovered
Short-term lease payments
Lease payments for leases of low-value assets
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities

30

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

12

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2019
Note

contents of the notes to the financial statements

1
2

Summary of significant accounting policies
Disaggregated information

Income
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
4
5

Australian Government financial assistance including HECS-HELP and other Australian Government loan programs
Northern Territory Government financial assistance
Fees and charges
Consultancy and contracts fees
Other revenue and income
Revenue and Income from continuing operations
Reconciliation of revenue and income
Investment income
Goods and Services received free of charge

Expenses
6
7
8
9
10
11
5

Employee related expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Repairs and maintenance
Borrowings costs
Impairment of assets
Other expenses
Good and Services received received free of charge

Assets
12
13
14
15
16

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and contract assests
Other Financial Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Liabilities
17
18
19
20

Trade and other payables
Lease Liabilities
Provisions
Other Financial Liabilities

Equity
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34

Equity
Key management personnel disclosures
Remuneration of auditors
Contingencies
Commitments
Related Parties
Joint Operations
Economic dependency
Events occurring after the balance sheet date
Reconciliation of operating result to net cash flows (used in) from operating activities
Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Financial risk management
Fair value measurements
Acquittal of Australian Government financial assistance
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Batchelor College was established as a Body Corporate on
1 July 1989 under Section 41 of the Education Act 2004. On
1 April 1995 the College became an Agency under the Financial
Management Act 1995 and the Public Sector Employment and
Management Act 1993. On 1 July 1999 the Batchelor Institute
of Indigenous Tertiary Education Act 1999 (the Act) came into
operation and the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education (Batchelor Institute) was established. The functions of
the Institute are detailed in Part 2 Section 7 of the Act. A review
of the Act was completed during 2016 and the amended Act was
passed by Parliament in April 2017.
Batchelor Institute is a multi-campus, dual-sector institution,
providing both Higher Education and Vocational Education and
Training courses. The principal address of Batchelor Institute is
Awilla Road, Batchelor, Northern Territory, 0845.
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years reported unless
otherwise stated.
(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION
Section 46 of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education Act 1999 requires the Chief Executive Officer, at the
end of each financial year, to prepare and have audited, financial
statements in respect of the financial year.
As per AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures, the
annual financial statements represent the audited general
purpose financial statements of Batchelor Institute. They
have been prepared on an accrual basis and comply with the
Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
Batchelor Institute applies Tier 1 reporting requirements.
Additionally, the statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-forprofits Commission Act 2012 and the Higher Education Support
Act 2003 (Financial Statement Guidelines for Australian Higher
Education Providers for the 2019 reporting period as issued
by the Australian Government Department of Education and
Training (DET)).
Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis which contemplates continuity of normal business
activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities
in the ordinary course of business. During the year the Institute
recorded a loss of $2.732 million (2018: $1.238 million loss). The
current year loss was mainly due to $2.2 million relating to the
payment of backpay in salary increases upon finalisation of the
2018-2020 Batchelor Institute Union Enterprise Agreement and
voluntary redundancy expenses which has resulted in a reduction
of 20 staff and will result in an ongoing reduction to employee
expenditure.

Cash at bank balance as at 24 April 2020 is $11.388 million, a
cash forecast has been prepared for the period to 30 June 2021
such that the Council believe that it is appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
This assessment and conclusion takes into consideration the
potential impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19) refer to page 60,
Note 29, Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date. Refer
also to Note 28 which outlines the economic dependency based
on continued funding and support of the Australian and Northern
Territory Governments.
Date of authorisation for issue
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council
members of Batchelor Institute on the same date the Financial
Report has been signed by the Council members.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except certain classes of property,
plant and equipment that have been measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the
AAS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Batchelor Institute’s accounting policies.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed below.
The Council evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated
into the financial statements based on historical knowledge
and the best available current information. Estimates assume a
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current
trends and economic data obtained both externally and within
Batchelor Institute. No accounting assumptions or estimates
have been identified that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
(B) INCOME TAX
Batchelor Institute does not provide for Australian income tax as
it is exempt under the provisions of Division 50 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997 (ITAA).
(C) ROUNDING
Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts have been rounded off to
the nearest thousand dollars.
(D) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount
of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable
from the taxation authority. In this case, it is recognised as part
of the cost acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(D) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST) (CONTINUED)
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.
(E) COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to enhance comparability in respect of changes in presentation
adopted in the current financial year.
(F) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2019 reporting
periods. Batchelor Institute has elected not to early adopt any of the standards. Batchelor Institute is assessing the potential impact
on its financial statements resulting from the application of the following new standards and interpretations. Batchelor Institute’s
assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below:
Standard

Application
date

Implications

AASB 1059 – Service
Concession Arrangements:
Grantors

1 Jan 2020

AASB 1059 addresses the accounting for arrangements that involve an operator
providing public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of a public
sector grantor for a specified period of time and managing at least some of those
services.
Where a transaction meets the definition of a service concession arrangement, a
service concession asset and liability will be recognised on the balance sheet and
valued in accordance with the new standard.
Batchelor Institute’s public-private partnership arrangements are currently under
review to determine the applicability of AASB 1059 and the full impacts of the new
standard.

In addition, at the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations were on
issue but not yet effective, but for which Australian equivalent Standards and Interpretations have not yet been issued:
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards – 1 January 2020
Batchelor Institute has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and
AASB 16 Leases in accordance with the transitional provisions applicable to each standard. The nature and effect of the changes as a
result of adoption of these new accounting standards are described below.
(G) INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS
The following interpretations and amending standards have also been adopted:
AASB 2016-8
Amendments to Australian Accounting 			
		
Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities
AASB 2018-8
Amendments to Australian Accounting 			
		
Profit Entities

Standards – Australian Implementation
Standards – Right-of-Use Assets of Not-for-

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to future reporting periods but are considered
to have limited impact on public sector reporting.

52 Batchelor Institute

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(G) INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING
STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)
AASB 15 and AASB 1058
Batchelor Institute adopted AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using
the modified retrospective method of transition, with the initial
application date of 1 January 2019. No adjustments are made to
comparative figures and comparative figures are continued to be
reported under the previous standards on revenue and income.
The new accounting policies for revenue and other income for notfor-profit in accordance with AASB 15 and AASB 1058 respectively
are provided in the notes of the relevant line items. The impact of
the change in accounting policy is explained through disclosure
in the notes to the financial statements.
Overview of AASB 15 and AASB 1058
Under the new income recognition model, Batchelor Institute first
considers whether AASB 15 applies to a transaction or part of a
transaction. In order for AASB 15 to apply to a transaction, the
performance obligation(s) arising from the transaction needs to
be ‘sufficiently specific’ and ‘enforceable’.
Where AASB 15 does apply to a transaction or part of a
transaction, Batchelor Institute applies the general AASB 15
principles to determine the appropriate revenue recognition.
When AASB 15 does not apply to a transaction or part of
a transaction, Batchelor Institute then considers whether
AASB 1058 applies. AASB 1058 will apply when Batchelor
Institute:
a) enters into a transaction where the consideration to acquire
an asset is significantly less than fair value principally to
enable Batchelor Institute to further its objectives; and
b) receives volunteer services (recognition of volunteer services
is only mandatory to entities in the public sector).
Transactions include those where Batchelor Institute acquires or
receives an asset (including cash) in exchange for no consideration.
Examples include cash grants received by Batchelor Institute to
further its objectives.
Impact on transition to AASB 15 and 1058 was nil.
AASB 16
Batchelor Institute has adopted AASB 16 using the modified
retrospective method of transition, with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under the modified approach,
Batchelor Institute has chosen, on a lease-by-lease basis, to
measure the related right-of-use asset at either:
(i) its carrying amount as if AASB 16 had been applied since
the commencement date, but discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application, or
(ii) an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately
before the date of initial application.

The comparative information presented has not been restated
and continues to be reported under the previous standards
on leases – AASB 117 and AASB Interpretation 4 Determining
whether an arrangement contains a lease (Interpretation 4). The
new accounting policies for leases in accordance with AASB 16 are
provided in the Note 15.1 Right-of-use assets.
The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of
AASB 16 are as described below:
Definition of lease
Previously, Batchelor Institute determined at contract
inception whether an arrangement is or contains a lease under
Interpretation 4. Under AASB 16, Batchelor Institute continues to
assess at contract inception whether a contract contains a lease
but now uses the new definition of a lease.
On transition to AASB 16, Batchelor Institute elected to apply
the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which
transactions are or contain leases.
This means that for arrangements entered into before
1 January 2019, Batchelor Institute has not reassessed whether
they are, or contain, a lease in accordance with the new AASB
16 lease definition. Consequently, existing contracts as at
1 January 2019 continued to be assessed per the previous
accounting policy described below in accordance with AASB 117
and Interpretation 4. Therefore, Batchelor Institute applied the
recognition and measurement requirements of AASB 16 only to
contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that
were not identified as leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4
were not reassessed. Therefore, the new definition of lease under
AASB 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or modified
on or after 1 January 2019.
Batchelor Institute as a lessee
Batchelor Institute previously classified leases as operating or
finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease
transferred substantially the entire risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of the underlying asset to Batchelor Institute.
Under AASB 16, as lessee Batchelor Institute no longer classifies
its leases. Instead, practically all leases are now recognised on
the statement of financial position as right-of-use assets, refer
Note 15.1 and corresponding lease liabilities, refer to Note 18,
where amounts are considered to be lease payments (for the new
leases policy which explains what amounts are included in lease
payments refer Note 15.1).
Leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117
On transition to AASB 16, Batchelor Institute recognised lease
liabilities for leases previously classified as operating leases by
discounting the remaining lease payments using the Northern
Territory Treasury Corporation bond rates as at 30 June 2018
at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 January 2019. The rightof-use assets were recognised at an amount equal to the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement
of financial position immediately before the date of initial
application.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Batchelor Institute as a lessor

(G) INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING
STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)
Leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117
(contnued)
Batchelor Institute has applied the following practical expedients
in transitioning existing operating leases:
a) Applied the incremental borrowing rate to the leases
individually based on their lease term remaining as at 01
January 2019.
b) Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities where the remaining leases term is 12
months or less from the date of initial application.
c) Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities where underlying asset value is less
than $10,000.
d) Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous
applying AASB 137 immediately before the date of
initial application, as an alternative to undertaking an
impairment review.
e) Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.
f) Excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of rightof-use asset at the date of initial application.
Reconciliation of operating lease commitments under AASB 117
and lease liabilities under AASB 16
As a lessee, the weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial
position on the date of initial application was 3.14%.
The difference between the operating lease commitments
disclosed previously by applying AASB 117 and the value of the
lease liabilities recognised under AASB 16 on 1 January 2019 is
explained as follows:
2019
$’000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 December 2018

1,085

Discounted using the weighted average
incremental borrowing rate of 3.14%

1,052

(Less): Short-term leases recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense

(75)

(Less): Low-value leases recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense

(25)

Add: Adjustments as a result of arrangements
meeting the definition of lease under AASB 16
and were not recognised as leases under AASB
117

177

Add/(less): Others

118

Lease liability recognised as at 1 January 2019
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1,247

Overview
Batchelor Institute is not required to make any adjustments on
transition to AASB 16 where it is a lessor, except for sub-leases.
Sub-leases
For sub-leases where Batchelor Institute is an intermediate
lessor, the sub-lease shall be classified as an operating lease or
finance leases with reference to the right-of-use asset and not the
underlying asset. On transition, Batchelor Institute reassessed
the classification of sub-leases recognised as operating subleases under AASB 117 with reference to the right-of-use asset
and accordingly recognised impacts on transition.
The assessment was performed on the basis of the remaining
contractual terms and conditions of the head lease and sublease
at transition date.
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VET

2019
$’000

Higher
Education
2019
$’000

3.2
3.3
4
3.4
5
3.5

NT Government financial assistance

Fees and charges

Investment income

Consultancy and contracts

Goods and services received free of charge

Other revenue and income

10
5
11

Impairment of assets

Goods and services received free of charge

Other expenses

2,078

112

7

5

(287)

9

Borrowing costs

63

Net result for the year

8

Repairs and maintenance

482

8,131

7

Depreciation and amortisation

5,384

7,844

6

101

112

1,106

30

131

2,971

3,387

Total expenses from continuing operations

6

Employee related expenses

Total income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations

Gains on disposal of assets

3.1

Australian Government financial assistance

Income from continuing operations

(2,445)

28,834

7,373

399

26

18

223

1,708

19,087

26,389

32

358

399

3,923

108

463

10,890

10,216

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY)

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION

Note

(2,732)

36,965

9,451

511

33

23

286

2,190

24,471

34,233

38

459

511

5,029

138

594

13,861

13,603

$’000

2019

Total
Economic
Entity

45

7,833

2,294

142

57

-

60

384

4,896

7,878

1

121

141

1,268

43

149

2,622

3,533

(1,283)

26,225

7,679

473

192

-

203

1,285

16,393

24,942

2

407

474

4,244

146

498

9,080

10,091

$’000
*Restated

$’000

2018

VET

*Restated

2018

Higher
Education

(1,238)

34,058

9,973

615

249

-

263

1,669

21,289

32,820

3

528

615

5,512

189

647

11,702

13,624

$’000

2018

Total
Economic
Entity
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VET

2019
$’000

Higher
Education
2019
$’000

$’000

2019

Total
Economic
Entity

(287)

(2,445)

-

-

-

(2,732)

-

-

-

45

-

-

-

(1,283)

-

-

-

(1,238)

-

-

-

$’000

2018

Total
Economic
Entity

Operating revenues and expenses for Higher Education and Vocational Education and Training (VET) have been determined by identifying specific revenues and expenses for each sector and
apportioning the remainder relative to direct costs of course delivery. The National Institute funding has been apportioned based on the direct costs of course delivery
(Higher Education 22%: VET 78%).
*Specific funding for Higher Education and VET has been classified as such in compliance with the Commonwealth Department of Education’s disclosure requirements.
Comparatives have been restated accordingly.

Comprehensive result

-

-

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Total other comprehensive income

-

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss

$’000
*Restated

$’000

2018

VET

*Restated

2018

Higher
Education

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (CONTINUED)

(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Note

Note

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

2019

2019

2019

2018

2018

2018

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

12

1,670

5,778

7,448

2,246

7,820

10,066

Receivables and contract assets

13

353

1,785

2,138

88

847

935

Other financial assets

14

95

367

462

113

431

544

2

6

8

-

-

-

2,120

7,936

10,056

2,447

9,098

11,545

Other non-financial assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

15

6,512

24,627

31,139

6,553

24,773

31,326

Intangible assets

16

3

12

15

-

-

-

Total non-current assets

6,515

24,639

31,154

6,553

24,773

31,326

Total assets

8,635

32,575

41,210

9,000

33,871

42,871

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

17

601

2,163

2,764

388

1,408

1,796

Lease liabilities

18

99

349

448

-

-

-

Provisions

19

755

2,896

3,651

772

2,955

3,727

Other financial liabilities

20

669

2,402

3,071

808

2,893

3,701

2,124

7,810

9,934

1,968

7,256

9,224

79

282

361

-

-

-

79

282

361

-

-

-

Total liabilities

2,203

8,092

10,295

1,968

7,256

9,224

Net assets

6,432

24,483

30,915

7,032

26,615

33,647

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

18

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Reserves

21

6,455

24,286

30,741

6,455

24,286

30,741

Retained Surplus

21

(23)

197

174

577

2,329

2,906

6,432

24,483

30,915

7,032

26,615

33,647

Total equity
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Note

Higher Education
Reserves Retained
Surplus
$’000

$’000

VET
Total

Reserves Retained
Surplus

$’000

$’000

$’000

Total

Total
Economic
Entity

$’000

$’000

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Balance at 1 January 2019
Net result for the year
Balance at 31 December 2019

21

Balance at 1 January 2018
Adoption of AASB 9 adjustment
Balance as restated
Net result for the year
Balance at 31 December 2018
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21

6,455

577

7,032

24,286

2,329

26,615

33,647

-

(601)

(601)

-

(2,131)

(2,131)

(2,732)

6,455

(24)

6,431

24,286

198

24,484

30,915

6,455

961

7,416

24,286

3,611

27,897

35,313

-

(99)

(99)

-

(329)

(329)

(428)

6,455

862

7,317

24,286

3,282

27,568

34,885

-

(285)

(285)

-

(953)

(953)

(1,238)

6,455

577

7,032

24,286

2,329

26,615

33,647
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$’000

$’000

30

27

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment

(149)

(157)

8

(2)

Lease payments for leases of low-value assets

Cash flows from investing activities

(17)

7

(5)

(7,265)

Short-term lease payments

GST recovered

Interest and other costs of finance

Payments to suppliers and employees

30

1,351

Receipts from student fees and other customers

Interest received

2,562

NT Government Grants

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Australian Government Grants

(526)

(556)

30

(1,454)

(5)

(61)

26

(18)

(25,759)

108

4,790

9,422

10,043

2019

2019

3,366

VET

Higher
Education

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Note

(675)

(713)

38

(1,427)

(7)

(78)

33

(23)

(33,024)

138

6,141

11,984

13,409

$’000

2019

Total
Economic
Entity

(102)

(102)

-

1,952

-

-

23

-

(7,271)

43

1,619

3,257

4,281

*Restated

$’000

2018

Higher
Education

(340)

(340)

-

5,099

-

-

75

-

(24,342)

146

5,420

11,215

12,585

*Restated

$’000

2018

VET

(442)

(442)

-

7,051

-

-

98

-

(31,613)

189

7,039

14,472

16,866

$’000

2018

Total
Economic
Entity
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2019
$’000

2019
$’000

12

*Refer Note 2, Statement of Comprehensive Income for explanation on restatement of comparatives

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

2,340

2,576

(236)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

(114)

-

Receipts of Lease Receivables

Net cash used in financing activities

(114)

Repayment of lease liabilities

Cash flows from investing activities

5,108

7,490

(2,382)

(402)

2

(404)

VET

Higher
Education

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Note

7,448

10,066

(2,618)

(516)

2

(518)

$’000

2019

Total
Economic
Entity

2,576

726

1,850

-

-

-

*Restated

$’000

2018

Higher
Education

7,490

2,731

4,759

-

-

-

*Restated

$’000

2018

VET

10,066

3,457

6,609

-

-

-

$’000

2018

Total
Economic
Entity

Economic Entity
Note

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 3: REVENUE AND INCOME
NOTE 3.1: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE INCLUDING HECS-HELP
AND OTHER AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMS
(a) Commonwealth Grant Scheme and Other Grants

34 (a)

National Institutes Funding

7,502

7,362

15

17

284

214

7,801

7,593

Research Training Program

127

148

Research Support Program

80

140

207

288

4,756

4,404

824

1,158

-

126

15

55

Total Non-capital

5,595

5,743

Total other Australian Government financial assistance

5,595

5,743

13,603

13,624

Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching
Indigenous Student Success Program
Total Commonwealth Grant Scheme and Other Grants
(b) EDUCATION Research

Total EDUCATION Research Grants

34 (b)

(c) Other Australian Government financial assistance
Non-capital
Indigenous Education Agreement - Away From Base
Office of the Arts Indigenous Broadcasting and Languages
Childcare support
Other project funding

Total Australian Government financial assistance (a+b+c)
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Economic Entity
Note

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

9,751

8,699

9,751

8,699

Supplementary Recurrent Assistance

1,101

564

Indigenous Tutorial Assistance Scheme (VET)

199

127

Vocational Education and Training Equipment Grant

134

141

22

36

1,937

1,726

51

33

3,444

2,627

13,195

11,326

581

376

85

-

666

376

13,861

11,702

NOTE 3.2: NORTHERN TERRITORY GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Non-Capital
General Purpose
Total General Purpose
Specific Purpose
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation

Department of Education
Vocational Education and Training in Schools
Department of Attorney-General and Justice
Other Revenue
Total Specific Purpose
Total Non-capital
Capital
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Major Capital Works *
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics
Major Capital Works Regional Economic Infrastructure Funding*
Total capital
Total Northern Territory Government financial assistance

* Major Capital Works grant has been disclosed under Capital to comply with the Department of Education Financial Statement
Guidelines for 2019. Comparatives have been restated accordingly.
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

293

282

293

282

Rental charges

96

135

Facility hire

137

155

Other

68

75

Total other fees and charges

301

365

Total fees and charges

594

647

3,272

3,706

1,757

1,806

5,029

5,512

109

77

Scholarships and prizes

2

2

Non-government grants

3

72

114

151

Merchandise and meal sales

64

179

Insurance rebates and other revenue

281

198

Total other income

345

377

Total other revenue and income

459

528

NOTE 3.3: FEES AND CHARGES
Course fees and charges
Other domestic course fees and charges
Total course fees and charges
Other non-course fees and charges
Student Services and Amenities Fees from students

NOTE 3.4: CONSULTANCY AND CONTRACT FEES
Consultancy
ACIKE - Charles Darwin University

(a)

Total consultancy and contract fees
(a)

Includes the basic CGS grant amount and CGS - Regional Loading and HECS

NOTE 3.5: OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME
Other revenue
Donations and bequests

Total other revenue
Other income
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NOTE 3.6: REVENUE AND INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
BASIS FOR DISAGGREGATION
Sources of funding:
Grants - Batchelor Institute receives funds from Australian
Government as well as State and Local Government to assist
with education programs across a wide range of disciplines, and
at different education qualification levels.
Apart from the income received from Government, Batchelor
Institute also receives funds and fees from private organisations
or individuals that are used for the different programs led by
Batchelor Institute or correspond to the education services
provided by Batchelor Institute.
Revenue and income streams: the streams are distinguishing
the different activities performed by Batchelor Institute as well
as acknowledge the different type of users of the programs and
services provided:
i. Course fees and charges: Batchelor Institute has
domestic students enrolled in a variety of programs
for different qualification levels (from certificates to
doctoral degrees). The number of domestic students
is affected by national economic factors as interest
rates or unemployment.

64 Batchelor Institute

ii. Research: Batchelor Institute performs research
activities in different fields such as health, engineering,
education and science. Batchelor Institute enters
into many different types of research agreements
with different counterparties, such as with private
sector customers and Government agencies that
award research grants. Each grant agreement needs
to be assessed as to whether it is an enforceable
arrangement and contains sufficiently specific
promises to transfer outputs from the research to
the customer (or at the direction of the customer).
Judgement is required in making this assessment.
Batchelor Institute has concluded that some research
agreements represent a contract with a customer
whereas other research grants are recognised as
income when Batchelor Institute obtains control of
the research funds.
iii. Non-course fees and charges: these correspond to
the complementary services provided by Batchelor
Institute such as meals and accommodation.

Economic Entity
Student
fees

Australian
Government
financial
assistance

State
and Local
Government
financial
assistance

Consultancy
and
contracts

Others**

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 3.6: REVENUE AND INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
A) DISAGGREGATION
Batchelor Institute derives revenue and income from:
Revenue and Income Streams
Course fees and charges
Domestic students - VET

229

-

-

-

-

229

64

-

-

-

-

64

293

-

-

-

-

293

Research income

-

207

-

-

-

207

Total research

-

207

-

-

-

207

Other government grants

-

1,138

4,374

5,029

-

10,541

Recurrent government grants

-

12,258

8,821

-

-

21,079

Total grants

-

13,396

13,195

5,029

-

31,620

233

-

-

-

64

297

68

-

-

-

395

463

301

-

-

-

459

760

Capital Government grants

-

-

666

-

-

666

Total Capital Government grants

-

-

666

-

-

666

594

13,603

13,861

5,029

459

33,546

594

5,595

13,195

3,272

345

23,001

-

8,008

666

1,757

114

10,545

594

13,603

13,861

5,029

459

33,546

Domestic students - Higher Education
Total course fees and charges
Research

Grants

Total non-course fees and charges
Use of facilities charges*
Other
Total non-course fees and charges
Captital Grants

Total
Revenue
Total revenue from contracts with
customers
Total income of not-for-profit
Total

* This does not include lease income in scope of AASB 16 disclosed in Note 15
** Excludes interest income which is separately disclosed in Note 4
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NOTE 3.6: REVENUE AND INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
B) ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
• Course fees and charges
The course fees and charges revenue relates to VET and Higher
Education programs.
The revenue is recognised in accordance with the following
principals:
Tuition fees for degree courses are charged to students
by academic term. Income is recognised for academic
terms falling within the period. For short courses, income is
recognised to the extent that the course duration falls within
the period.
When the courses or trainings have been paid in advance by
students or Batchelor Institute has received the government
funding in advance (e.g. before starting the academic
period) Batchelor Institute recognises a contract liability until
the services are delivered or performance obligations are
completed as determined on an appropriate basis for each
contract.
• Research
Revenue recognition for research funding is dependent upon
the source of the funding and the nature of the transaction.
The following specific research revenue recognition criteria
have been applied:
– Funding received from the Department of Education –
received funding in relation to the Research Training Program
(“RTP”) and Research Support Program (“RSP”) based on
prior year factors like number of Higher Degree Research
students, Competitive Grant Income, etc. Batchelor Institute
expenses these funds on research projects. At the end of
the year, if any money left over then Institute records this
amount as a unexpended grant and report to the funding
body.
– Funding received from non-government entities are subject
to judgement as to when and by how much revenues should
be recognised in the financial statements. This includes
determining when entitlement arises such as performance
conditions being met.
• Non-course fees and charges
Non-course fees and charges revenue relates to student
services and amenities fees are recognised once services are
delivered.
• Other
Other revenue that is within the scope of AASB 15 mainly
relates to non-government grants and this revenue has been
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income once
performance conditions have been met. Revenue from the
sale of minor assets is recognised when the entity has passed
control to the buyer.
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C) UNSATISFIED PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
Remaining performance obligations represent services Batchelor
Institute has promised to provide to customers under the service
agreements which are satisified as the services are provided over
the contract term. In determining the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations in Batchelor Institute’s
contracts with customers, the milestones as per the agreements
are assessed and valued in relation to the agreement amount.
For customer contracts with terms of one year or less, or where
revenue is recognised using the ‘right to invoice’ method of
recognising revenue, as permitted under AASB 15, disclosures
are not required in relation to the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied performance obligations. Further, the amounts
disclosed below do not include variable consideration which has
been constrained.
These unsatisfied performance obligations are expected to be
satisfied within the following periods:
Economic Entity
Within 1 year

Total

$’000

$’000

3,071

3,071

Refund liability

As permitted under the transitional provisions in AASB 15, the
transaction price allocated to partially unsatisfied performance
obligations as of 31 December 2018 is not disclosed.
D) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATED TO CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS
The following assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers:
Note

Economic Entity
2019
Closing Opening
balance balance
$’000

$’000

2,138

935

-

-

2,138

935

3,071

3,701

-

-

3,071

3,701

Receivables and Contract assets
Receivables and Contract assets
- current

13

Receivables and Contract assets
– non-current
Unspent financial assistance
Contract liabilities - current
Contract liabilities – non-current

20

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in
the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period was
$3.701 million.
Revenue recognised in the reporting period from performance
obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods
was $3.701 million.

NOTE 3.6: REVENUE AND INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

NOTE 3.7: RECONCILIATION OF REVENUE
AND INCOME

D) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATED TO CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

The following table reconciles the amounts disclosed in notes
3.1 to 3.6 which contain the mandatory disclosures required by
the department and the disclosures provided in note 3.7 as per
AASB 15 and AASB 1058:

Contract assets
The contract assets are associated with income from contracts.
The impairment associated with the contract assets is disclosed
in Note 13, Receivables and contract assets.
Accounting policy
A contract asset is Batchelor Institute’s right to a consideration in
exchange for goods or services that has transferred to a customer.
A receivable is Batchelor Institute’s right to consideration that is
unconditional. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.
Contract liabilities
The contract liabilities are related to unearned revenue
from contracts.
Accounting policy
While an unearned revenue is Batchelor Institute’s right to
consideration that is conditional, a contract liability is Batchelor
Institute’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services
that Batchelor Institute has not transferred to the customer or
performance conditions are not being met.
Contract liabilities differ from the amounts disclosed in the Note 17
Trade and other payables. The contract liabilities are arising from
the unearned revenue from contracts performance conditions are
not being met or completed.

Economic
Entity
Note

2019
$’000

Total Australian Government financial
assistance including Australian Government
loan programs (HELP)

3.1

13,603

Total Northern Territory Government financial
assistance

3.2

13,861

Total Fees and charges

3.3

594

Total Consultancy and contract fees

3.4

5,029

Total Other revenue and income

3.5

459

Total

33,546

Total Revenue from contracts with customers
as per AASB 15

3.6

23,001

Total Income of not-for-profit as per
AASB 1058

3.6

10,545

Total Revenue and Income from continuing
operations

33,546

Economic Entity
E) INCOME OF NOT-FOR-PROFIT
Accounting policies and significant accounting judgements and
estimates
Grants (other than capital grants)
When grant revenue is received whereby the institute incurs an
enforceable, sufficiently specific obligation to deliver economic
value directly back to the contributor this grant revenue is
recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability
until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise
the grant is recognised as income on receipt.
Donations and Bequests
Revenue in the form of donations and bequests is brought to
account when received.
Other
The income is recognised immediately when the funds are
received.

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 4: INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest
Debt instruments at amortised cost

125

189

Interest received from Australian Tax
Office

12

-

1

-

138

189

Finance lease income
Investment income
ACCOUNTING POLICY

Interest
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and debt
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest
rate(EIR). The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included
in net investment income in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Refer Note 19, Provisions, for accounting policies for short-term
and post employment obligations and termination benefits.
Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

1,406

1,396

Infrastructure

110

109

Plant and equipment

80

84

Computer hardware

57

58

Transport equipment

17

22

Library books

2

-

517

-

2,189

1,669

1

-

1

-

2,190

1,669

NOTE 5: GOODS & SERVICES RECEIVED
FREE OF CHARGE
Services received free of charge

511

615

Total services received free of charge

511

615

NOTE 7: DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTISATION
Depreciation

Accounting Policy
Batchelor Institute receives various human resources, payroll
and financial services from the Northern Territory Government
at no charge.

NOTE 6: EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPENSES
Academic
Salaries

7,068

7,702

Contributions to superannuation and
pension schemes
Contributions to funded schemes

722

603

485

Worker’s compensation

22

53

Long service leave expense

261

182

Annual leave

935

898

Redundancies

914

-

(4)

8

10,736

10,050

9,200

8,694

Fringe Benefits Tax
Total academic
Non-academic
Salaries
Contributions to superannuation and
pension schemes
Contributions to funded schemes

1,279

830

Payroll tax

771

541

Worker’s compensation

41

(33)

321

181

Annual leave

1,169

1,017

Redundancies

958

-

(4)

9

Total non-academic

13,735

11,239

Total employee related expenses

24,471

21,289

Long service leave expense

Fringe Benefits Tax

Accounting Policy
Contributions to independent defined contribution
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense as they
become payable.
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Right-of-use assets
Total depreciation

937

Payroll tax

Buildings

Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation
Accounting Policy
Depreciation
Land and cultural assets are not depreciated. Depreciation
on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows for the current
and prior year:
Depreciable assets
Buildings including demountables and
improvements

7-50 years

Infrastructure

10-40 years

Plant and equipment

3-20 years

Computer hardware

5 years

Transport equipment

5-10 years

Library books

5 years

Right-of-use assets
Land

5-12 years

Building

2-10 years

Transport Equipment

2-5 years

Plant and equipment, includes:
Printers

2 years

NOTE 7: DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTISATION (CONTINUED)

Economic Entity

Right of use assets (under AASB 16) are depreciated/amortised
over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the asset.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

$’000 $’000

2019

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

NOTE 10: IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Bad and doubtful debts and assets
written off
Increase / (decrease) in provision for ECLs
Recovered debts previously written off

(III) AMORTISATION OF INTANGIBLES

Total impairment of assets

Preliminary expenses in respect of the development of computer
software are capitalised as they are incurred but amortisation
does not commence until the software development is
completed and ready for use. Amortisation has been included
within depreciation and amortisation line in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The following useful lives are applied for
intangible assets with finite useful lives for the current and prior
year:
Computer software

1.5 - 3 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised.
Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000 $’000

NOTE 8: REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE
Repairs and maintenance on buildings
Total repairs and maintenance

286

263

286

263

Accounting Policy
Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses
as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a
component of an asset, in which case the carrying amount of
those parts that are replaced is derecognised and the cost of the
replacing part is capitalised if the recognition criteria are met.
Other routine operating maintenance, repair and minor renewal
costs are also recognised as expenses, as incurred.

Total borrowing costs expensed

2

915

97

(666)

(66)

-

33

249

Accounting Policy
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.
Many assets of Batchelor Institute that are not held primarily for
their ability to generate net cash inflows are typically specialised
assets held for continuing use of their service capacity and they
are rarely sold. The recoverable amount of such assets is expected
to be materially the same as fair value, determined under
AASB 13, with the consequence that AASB 136:
(a) does not apply to such assets that are regularly revalued to
fair value under the revaluation model in AASB 116 and AASB 138;
and
(b) applies to such assets accounted for under the cost model in
AASB 116 and AASB 138.

NOTE 9: BORROWING COSTS
Interest expense on lease liabilities

2018

23

-

23

-

For further information on accounting policies of impairment of
financial assets, refer to Note 13, Receivables and contract Assets
and Note 14, Other Financial Assets.

Accounting Policy
For Interest expense on lease liabilities, please refer to note 15.1
which details the policy for lease accounting where Batchelor
Institute is a lessee.
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 11: OTHER EXPENSES
Advertising, marketing and
promotional expenses
Communications and utilities

133

83
2,503

415

716

1,500

1,223

Insurance

542

520

Motor vehicles

317

773

Non-capitalised equipment

446

315

Property management

923

1,051

38

86

104

311

Scholarships, grants and prizes

64

102

Training and study

176

100

Travel

2,123

1,702

Other

472

488

9,451

9,973

Contracted services

Recruitment
Rental, hire and other leasing fees

Total other expenses

NOTE 13: RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS
Current

2,198

Consumables

Economic Entity

NOTE 12: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand

7,448

10,066

Total cash and cash equivalents

7,448

10,066

(A) RECONCILIATION TO CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the year as
shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:

Other trade receivables

1,601

257

(89)

(33)

1,512

224

53

-

(29)

-

24

-

588

737

GST (payable) / receivable

12

(26)

Other

2

-

2,138

935

Less: Provision for impaired
receivables
Student fees receivable
Less: Provision for impaired
receivables
Accrued revenue

Total receivables

Receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms
of 30 days.
Accounting Policy
A receivable represents Batchelor Institute’s right to an amount
of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of
time is required before payment of the consideration is due).
Refer Note 14 Other Financial Assets for a detailed accounting
policy for financial assets.
Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected
credit losses of trade receivables:
33

271

-

428

97

31

Write-off

(12)

(697)

(B) CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND

At 31 December

118

33

Cash on hand is non-interest bearing. Cash at bank earns floating
interest rates and had an effective interest rate of 1% (2018 - 1.5%).

The information about the credit exposures are disclosed in Note
32 Financial risk management.

Accounting Policy
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the statement of financial position.

Accounting Policy
Classification and measurement
Trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and
give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal
and interest. At initial recognition trade receivables are measured
at their transaction price and subsequently these are classified
and measured as debt instruments at amortised cost. Trade
receivables are due for settlement no more than 30 days from
date of recognition for all debtors.

Balances as above
Balance per statement of cash flows
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7,448

10,066

7,448

10,066

At 1 January
AASB 9 transition adjustment
Provision for expected credit losses

NOTE 13: RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Accounting Policy (continued)
Impairment
For trade receivables and contract assets Batchelor Institute
applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit
losses (“ECLs”). Therefore, Batchelor Institute does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
Batchelor Institute has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 14: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Current
Salary Advances
Prepayments
Total other financial assets

13

20

449

524

462

544

Accounting Policy
Batchelor Institute recognises a prepayment as an asset when
payments for goods or services have been made in advance of
Batchelor Institute obtaining a right to access those goods or
services.
Financial assets
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument
of another entity.
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are initially recognised at amortised cost and
fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI
test and is performed at an instrument level.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in three categories:
a) (Other) financial assets at amortised costs
b) (Other) financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
c) (Other) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Statement of Comprehensive Income
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost
Batchelor Institute measures financial assets at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
Batchelor Institute’s financial assets at amortised cost includes
trade receivables.
(b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Batchelor Institute measures debt instruments at fair value
through OCI if both of the following conditions are met:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income,
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.
Batchelor Institute currently does not hold debt instruments at
fair value through OCI.

Batchelor Institute’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
with in a time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade
date, i.e., the date that Batchelor Institute commits to purchase
or sell the asset.
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NOTE 14: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through Statement of
Comprehensive Income include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through Statement of Comprehensive Income, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured
at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria
for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair
value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may
be designated at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive
Income on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
Financial assets at fair
value through Statement of
Comprehensive Income are carried in the statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity
investments which Batchelor Institute had not irrevocably
elected to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed
equity investments are also recognised as other income in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the right of payment
has been established.
Batchelor Institute currently does not hold financial assets at fair
value through Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from Batchelor Institute’s statement
of financial position) when:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired or
• Batchelor Institute has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (a) Batchelor Institute has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) Batchelor Institute has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
When Batchelor Institute has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
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When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of
the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the
asset, Batchelor Institute continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case,
Batchelor Institute also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that Batchelor
Institute has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that Batchelor Institute could be required to repay.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Impairment of debt instruments other than receivables
Batchelor Institute recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments other than receivables
and not held at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive
Income. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that Batchelor Institute expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
Batchelor Institute considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, Batchelor Institute may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that Batchelor Institute is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by Batchelor Institute. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

985

985

985

985

59,616

59,085

(33,008)

(31,602)

26,608

27,483

1,716

1,666

(704)

(593)

1,012

1,073

At cost

1,265

1,301

Less: accumulated depreciation

(893)

(850)

372

451

886

886

(844)

(787)

42

99

At cost

699

722

Less: accumulated depreciation

(615)

(621)

84

101

752

752

752

752

At cost

14

6

Less: accumulated depreciation

(2)

-

12

6

460

376

460

376

At cost

1,329

-

Less: accumulated depreciation

(517)

-

812

-

31,139

31,326

NOTE 15: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land
At fair value
Total Land
Buildings
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total Buildings
Infrastructure
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total Infrastructure
Plant and equipment

Total Plant and equipment
Computer hardware
At cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total Computer hardware
Transport equipment

Total Transport equipment
Heritage and cultural assets
At fair value
Total Heritage and cultural assets
Library Books

Total Library Books
Work in progress
At cost
Total Work in progress
Right-of-use Assets

Total Right-of-use-Assest
Total property, plant and equipment

Annual Report 2019

73

74 Batchelor Institute

Buildings

$’000

Land

$’000

$’000

Infrastructure

$’000

Construction
in progress

-

-

-

-

-

985

Transfers in / (out)

Asset disposals cost

Disposals accumulated
depreciation

Depreciation expense

Revaluation increment/
(decrement)

Closing net book amount

(33,008)

26,608

985

59,077

-

985

539

26,608

-

(1,406)

-

-

531

-

-

27,483

27,483

(31,602)

59,077

8

1,012

(703)

1,666

49

1,012

-

(110)

-

-

49

-

-

1,073

1,073

(593)

1,666

-

(b) Disclosure per each class of Right-of-use asset is in note 15.1 Right-of-use Assets.

(a) Plant and equipment includes all operational assets.

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Valuation

Cost

-

-

Additions

At 31 December 2019

-

985

985

-

985

-

Adoption of AASB 16

Opening net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2019

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Valuation

Cost

At 1 January 2019

460

-

-

460

460

-

-

-

-

(580)

664

-

376

376

-

-

376

NOTE 15: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Economic entity

372

(893)

-

1,265

372

-

(80)

37

(64)

-

28

-

451

451

(850)

-

1,301

$’000

Plant and
equipment
(a)

812

(517)

-

1,329

812

-

(517)

-

-

-

79

1,250

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

Right- ofuse assets
(b)

42

(844)

-

886

42

-

(57)

-

-

-

-

-

99

99

(787)

-

886

$’000

Computer
hardware

84

(615)

-

699

84

-

(17)

23

(23)

-

-

-

101

101

(621)

-

722

$’000

Transport
equipment

752

-

752

-

752

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

752

752

-

748

4

$’000

Heritage
and cultural
assets

12

(2)

-

14

12

-

(2)

-

-

-

8

-

6

6

-

-

6

$’000

Library
Books

31,139

(36,582)

62,480

5,241

31,139

-

(2,189)

60

(87)

-

779

1,250

31,326

31,326

(34,453)

62,476

3,303

$’000

Total
property,
plant and
equipment
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Buildings

$’000

Land

$’000

$’000

Infrastructure

-

-

985

Depreciation expense

Revaluation increment/
(decrement)

Closing net book amount

(31,602)

27,483

985

59,077

8

27,483

-

(1,396)

-

8

28,871

28,871

(30,206)

-

985

-

59,077

1,073

(593)

1,666

-

1,073

-

(109)

-

-

1,182

1,182

(484)

1,666

-

(b) Disclosure per each class of Right-of-use asset is in note 15.1 Right-of-use Assets.

(a) Plant and equipment includes all operational assets.

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Valuation

Cost

-

-

Asset disposals

At 31 December 2018

-

985

985

-

985

-

Additions

Opening net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2018

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Valuation

Cost

At 1 January 2018

376

-

-

376

376

-

-

-

376

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

Construction
in progress

NOTE 15: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Economic entity

451

(850)

-

1,301

451

-

(85)

-

7

529

529

(765)

-

1,294

$’000

Plant and
equipment
(a)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

Right- ofuse assets
(b)

99

(787)

-

886

99

-

(57)

(1)

-

157

157

(730)

-

887

$’000

Computer
hardware

101

(621)

-

722

101

-

(22)

-

45

78

78

(599)

-

677

$’000

Transport
equipment

752

-

748

4

752

-

-

-

4

748

748

-

748

-

$’000

Heritage
and cultural
assets

6

-

-

6

6

-

-

-

6

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

Library
Books

31,326

(34,453)

62,476

3,303

31,326

-

(1,669)

(1)

446

32,550

32,550

(32,784)

62,476

2,858

Total
property,
plant and
equipment
$’000

NOTE 15: PROPERTY PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
ACCOUNTING POLICY
Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, but
at least quinquennial, valuations by external independent valuers,
less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the carrying amount is
adjusted to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property,
plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to Batchelor Institute and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land
and buildings are recognised, net of tax, in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
revaluation reserve. To the extent that the increase reverses a
decrease previously recognised in profit or loss, the increase
is first recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Decreases that reverse previous increases of the same asset
class are also recognised in other comprehensive income to the
extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the asset class. All
other decreases are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.
Construction in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Plant and equipment is stated at cost,
net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of
the plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term
construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When
significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, Batchelor Institute depreciates them
separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the
recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The present value
of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its
use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition
criteria for a provision are met.
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Batchelor Institute controls building assets that are situated on
land where the legal title is held by entities other than Batchelor
Institute. Certain building assets that are situated in Batchelor
township, but which do not form part of the main Batchelor
Institute campus, are located on Crown land that is controlled by
the Northern Territory of Australia. All remote building assets are
situated on land that is owned by entities other than Batchelor
Institute.
Initial expenditure for buildings under construction are capitalised
as incurred and depreciation commences once the building is
complete and ready for use.
VALUATIONS
Batchelor Institute revalue Land, buildings and Infrastructure
and Artwork collections once every five years by an external
independent valuer. In addition to the external valuation every
five years, the artwork collections are subject to periodic review
by electronic means.
Land, buildings and infrastructure were revalued in September
2017 with values reflected as at 31 December 2017. The revaluation
resulted in an increase of $1.9 million to buildings; decrease
of $0.04 million to infrastructure assets; and a decrease of
$0.3 million to land value.
Land, building and infrastructure assets have been measured
using the fair value methodology. As there is no current active
and liquid market for facilities of this type, and it is Batchelor
Institute’s intention to retain these assets in their current usage,
fair value has been measured at depreciated replacement cost.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 15.1: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
As a Lessee
Property, plant and equipment in note 15 above comprises owned assets and right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property.
Property, plant and equipment (owned)

30,327

31,326

812

-

31,139

31,326

Right-of-use assets
At 31 December 2019

The information on the description of the leased assets is disclosed in Note 18, Lease Liabilities, lease disclosure.
Information about leases where Batchelor Institute is a lessee is presented below:
Right-of-use assets Land
At 1 January 2019

118

-

(32)

-

86

-

62

-

(39)

-

23

-

901

-

79

-

(368)

-

612

-

At 1 January 2019

169

-

Depreciation charge

(78)

-

91

-

Depreciation charge
At 31 December 2019
Right-of-use assets Buildings
At 1 January 2019
Depreciation charge
At 31 December 2019
Right-of-use assets Transport Equipment
At 1 January 2019
Additions of right-of-use assets
Depreciation charge
At 31 December 2019
Right-of-use assets Plant and Equipment

At 31 December 2019
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NOTE 15.1: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
(CONTINUED)
ACCOUNTING POLICY
Assessment of whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
At inception of a contract, Batchelor Institute assesses whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A contract is, or contains a lease
if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Batchelor Institute assesses whether:
a) The contract involves the use of an identified asset –
The asset may be explicitly or implicitly specified in the
contract. Capacity portion of larger assets is considered as
an identified asset if the portion is physically distinct or if
the portion represents substantially all of the capacity of
the asset. The asset is not considered an identified asset,
if the supplier has the substantive right to substitute the
asset throughout the period of use.
b) Batchelor Institute has the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset
throughout the period of use.
c) Batchelor Institute has the right to direct the use of the
asset throughout the period of use - Batchelor Insitute is
considered to have the right to direct the use of the asset
only if either:
i. Batchelor Institute has the right to direct how and for
what purpose the identified asset is used throughout
the period of use; or
ii. The relevant decisions about how and for what
purposes the asset is used is predetermined and
Batchelor Institute has the right to operate the asset,
or Batchelor Institute designed the asset in a way
that predetermines how and for what purpose the
asset will be used throughout the period of use.
Accounting for leases – Batchelor Institute as lessee
In contracts where Batchelor Institute is a lessee, Batchelor
Institute recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease, unless the short-term or
low-value exemption is applied.
Right-of-use asset
A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the
initial measurement of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made before the commencement date (reduced by
lease incentives received), plus initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining the lease and an estimate of costs to be incurred in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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All other property, plant and equipment are measured as
described in the accounting policy for property, plant and
equipment in Note 15 Property, Plant and Equipment.
Concessionary leases
Batchelor Institute has a peppercorn lease for lots 125-131 and
267 Town of Batchelor with Northern Territory Government with a
nil lease payment. The lease expires in April 2024.
For lease liabilities corresponding to concessionary leases, refer to
Note 18, Lease Liabilities.
Nature, term and dependencies on concessionary leases
There are no dependencies on Batchelor Institute’s business
operations for these concessionary leases as they are for staff
housing who will be responsible for their own accommodation if
the leases are not renewed.
Concessionary (peppercorn) leases
The Batchelor Institute has elected to measure a class of rightof-use assets arising under ‘concessionary leases’ at initial
recognition at cost, in accordance with AASB 16 paragraphs
23–25, which incorporates the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

201

201

(201)

(201)

-

-

201

201

16

-

217

201

(201)

(201)

(1)

-

(202)

(201)

15

-

NOTE 16: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At 1 January
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount
At 31 December
Opening Cost
Additions
Closing Cost
Opening accumulated amortisation and impairment
Amortisation
Closing accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.
Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised
development costs, are not capitalised and the related
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
expenditure is incurred.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite
or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised,
but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or
at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite
life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.
Disposal
An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date
the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income..
(i) Research
Expenditure on reseach activities is recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income as an expense, when it is incurred.
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

1

1,565

2,763

231

Total current trade and other payables

2,764

1,796

Total trade and other payables

2,764

1,796

NOTE 17: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current
Trade creditors
Accrued expenses*

*Accrued expenses include redundancies payable of $1.971 million

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Batchelor Institute prior to the end of financial
year, which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 20 days of recognition.

NOTE 18: LEASE LIABILITIES
Current
Lease liabilities

448

-

448

-

361

-

Total non-current lease liabilities

361

-

Total lease liabilities

809

-

23

-

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of leases

9

-

Income from sub-leasing right of use assets

1

-

78

-

7

-

118

-

Less than one year

460

-

One to five years

365

-

3

-

Total undiscounted contractual cash flows

828

-

Lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position

809

-

Current

448

-

Non-current

361

-

Total current lease liabilities
Non-Current
Lease liabilities

Lease disclosures
Batchelor Institute as a lessee
Amounts recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income
Interest on lease liabilities

Expenses relating to short-term leases
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding short term leases of low value assets
Maturity analysis – undiscounted contractual cash flows

More than 5 years
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NOTE 18: LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Transport Equipment
Batchelor Institute Leases its Fleet from NTG. The vehicles are
leased for 2-5 years with no option to purchase the vehicle. The
Lease payments are determined at the inception of the lease and
the payments made monthly in advance.
Buildings
Batchelor Institutes has periodic leases for Katherine Training
Centre and Nhulunbuy Training Centre, and residential houses in
Nyrippi and Nhulunbuy from Northern Territory Government. The
lease payments are determined at the inception of the lease and
increases on annual basis with the increase in CPI. The Institute
can return the assets at minimal or no cost to the institute.
MFD (Printers)
Batchelor Institute leases all of its printers for a four-year lease
period. The lease payments comprises of fixed and variable lease
payments. Fixed component of the lease payments covers the
minimum number of printouts and variable component of the
lease payments covers any excess printouts. The institute have
to return the printers at the end of the lease term.
Land
Batchelor Institute leases blocks of land under Section 19 of
Aboriginal Land Rights Act 1976 for the period of 5-12 years.
Batchelor Institute is operating learning centers from these
blocks. The Lease payments were determined at the inception
of the lease and increases annually based on the increase in
CPI. Batchelor Institute has a termination option with a notice
period of 28-90 days. On termination/expiry of the lease, any
structures built on the land becomes the property of the relevant
Land council if not removed in 28 days.
Exposure from variable lease payments
Variable lease components of the MFD (printers) will increase in
usage of the printers. Batchelor Institute is internally managing
this by monitoring and controlling the printouts.
Exposure from extension options and lease payments
Batchelor Institute does not have any leases with extension
options however all lease are terminable within 28 to 60 days.
Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Amounts recognised in statement of
cash flows
Total cash outflow for leases

(518)

Accounting Policy for leases
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
Lease liabilities – Batchelor Institute as lessee
Policy on assessment of whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease is detailed in note 15.1 above.

-

Lease liability
Lease liability is initially measured at the present value of unpaid
lease payments at the commencement date of the lease. To
calculate the present value, the unpaid lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if the
rate is readily determinable. If the interest rate implicit in the
lease cannot be readily determined, the NTG Bond rate at the
commencement date of the lease is used. Lease payments
included in the measurement of lease liabilities comprise:
• Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed
payments;
• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date (e.g. payments varying on
account of changes in CPI); and
• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees.
• The exercise price of a purchase option if Batchelor
Institute is reasonably certain to exercise that option
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, Batchelor
Institute allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
Subsequently, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method resulting in interest
expense being recognised as a borrowing cost in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability is remeasured
when there are changes in future lease payments arising from
a change in an index or rate with a corresponding adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. The adjustment amount is factored into
depreciation of the right-of-use asset prospectively.
Right-of-use assets are presented within property, plant and
equipment in Note 15.1. and lease liabilities are presented as lease
liabilities in Note 18.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
Batchelor Institute has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases i.e. leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets i.e.,
when the value of the leased asset when new is $10,000 or less.
Batchelor Institute recognises the lease payments associated
with these leases as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Concessionary leases
Batchelor Institute has a peppercorn lease for lots 125-131 and
267 Town of Batchelor with Northern Territory Government with a
nil lease payment. The lease expires in April 2024.
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

1,098

1,224

Long service leave

656

673

Annual leave fares

-

5

131

161

192

88

2,077

2,151

1,218

1,426

356

150

Subtotal

1,574

1,576

Total current provisions

3,651

3,727

NOTE 19: PROVISIONS
Current provisions expected to be settled within 12 months
Employee benefits
Annual leave
(a)

Annual leave loading
Other provisions(b)
Subtotal
Current provisions expected to be settled after more than 12 months
Employee benefits
Long service leave(a)
Other provisions(b)

Long service leave provisions have been recognised in current provisions for 2019, in compliance with terms of clause 60.4 of the Batchelor
Institute Union Enterprise Agreement 2018 - 2020. Employees are entitled to payout of Long Service Leave accrued but not taken upon
termination of employment for any reason except for reason of serious misconduct. Batchelor Institute has reclassified from 2018 non-current
long service leave of $267,000 to current liabilities.
(b)
Other provisions include fringe benefits tax, payroll tax, superannuation, and worker’s compensation provisions amount.
(a)
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Annual
leave

Long
service
leave

Annual
leave
fares

Annual
leave
loading

Other

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 19: PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Movement in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, are set out below:
As at 31 December 2019
Current
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2019

1,224

2,099

5

161

238

3,727

Additional provisions recognised

1,919

583

(5)

186

828

3,511

(2,045)

(809)

-

(216)

(517)

(3,587)

1,098

1,873

-

131

549

3,651

1,359

2,088

2

229

602

4,280

1,717

481

3

198

59

2,458

(1,852)

(470)

-

(266)

(423)

(3,011)

1,224

2,099

5

161

238

3,727

Amounts used
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2019
As at 31 December 2018
Current
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2018
Additional provisions recognised
Amounts used
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Provisions for legal claims and service warranties are recognised
when: Batchelor Institute has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as a finance cost.

expected to be paid when the liability is settled, if it is expected to
be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the reporting
period, and is recognised in other payables. Liabilities for nonaccumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken
and measured at the rates payable.
Annual leave
The liability for long-term employee benefits such as annual
leave is recognised in current provisions for employee benefits if it
is due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. It is measured at the amount expected to be paid when
the liability is settled. Regardless of the expected timing of
settlements, provisions made in respect of employee benefits are
classified as a current liability, unless there is an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date, in which case it would be classified as a
non-current liability.
(ii) Other long-term obligations
The liability for other long-term benefits are those that are not
expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period. Other long-term employee
benefits comprise long service leave liabilities.

Employee benefits
(i) Short-term obligations
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits including wages and
salaries and non-monetary benefits are measured at the amount
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NOTE 19: PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Other long-term obligations (continued)
Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision
for employee benefits and measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on national government
bonds with terms to maturity and currently that match, as closely
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, provisions
made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a current
liability, unless there is an unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
date, in which case it would be classified as a non-current liability.
(iii) Retirement benefit obligations
Batchelor Institute contributes to several superannuation
schemes, including the Northern Territory Government and
Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS), the
Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS) and various
private sector schemes. Casual employee’s superannuation
benefits are provided for through approved contribution schemes.
Until 30 June 1999 benefits from NTGPASS were supplemented
by an additional productivity benefit from the Northern Territory
Supplementary Superannuation Scheme (NTSSS). The NTSSS
benefit was entirely employer funded and did not require
employee contributions. It was provided to all employees whom
completed at least three months service. NTGPASS closed to
new employees commencing service with the Northern Territory
Government after 9 August 1999. The NTGPASS, NTSSS and the
defined contribution scheme provide lump sum benefits while
the CSS provides a mixture of lump sum and pension benefits.
In respect of the entity’s superannuation plans, any contributions
made to the superannuation plans by the entity are recognised
against profits when due.
Employee contributions in respect of NTGPASS members are
based on an elected rate of 2% to 6% of salary. CSS members
must contribute 5% of salary and may elect to contribute up
to an additional 5% of salary as supplementary contributions.
Contributions to other approved contribution schemes
are made at a rate of 10% of the employee’s salary. Until
30 June 1999 the cost of employer financed benefits was met by
the Northern Territory Government. Batchelor Institute was under
no legal obligation to make up any shortfall in relation to payouts
to employees or contributions on behalf of employees. Since
1 July 1999 Batchelor Institute has received funding directly from
the Northern Territory and Commonwealth Governments to fund
superannuation contributions to approved funds.
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Contributions to the superannuation funds are recognised as an
expense as they become payable.
(iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an
employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the
termination of employment. Batchelor Institute recognises the
expense and liability for termination benefits either when it can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when it has
recognised costs for restructuring within the scope of AASB 137
that involves the payment of termination benefits.
The expense and liability are recognised when Batchelor Institute
is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Termination benefits are measured on initial recognition
and subsequent changes are measured and recognised in
accordance with the nature of the employee benefit. Benefits
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months are measured
at the undiscounted amount expected to be paid. Benefits not
expected to be settled before 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 20: OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Current
Australian Government unspent
financial assistance

450

644

Refund liability

2,621

3,057

Total other liabilities

3,071

3,701

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
Batchelor Institute’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and borrowings.

NOTE 20: OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 		

ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income are
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria
in AASB 9 are satisfied. Batchelor Institute has not designated
any financial liability as at fair value through Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
		
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 		
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs
in the Statement of Comparative Income.
This category generally applies to payables, interest-bearing
loans and borrowings. Batchelor Institute does not hold any
interest-bearing loans or borrowings.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Contract and refund liabilities
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which Batchelor Institute has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If a customer pays consideration before Batchelor
Institute transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment
is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when Batchelor Institute performs under the contract.
A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from the customer and is
measured at the amount Batchelor Institute ultimately expects it
will have to return to the customer. Batchelor Institute updates its
estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in
the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus

15,124

15,124

Gifted asset reserve

15,617

15,617

30,741

30,741

2,906

4,572

-

(428)

Operating result for the period

(2,732)

(1,238)

Retained surplus at 31 December

174

2,906

30,915

33,647

NOTE 21: EQUITY
(a) Reserves

Total reserves
(b) Retained Surplus
Movements in retained surplus were as follows:
Retained surplus at 1 January
Adoption of AASB 9 adjustment

Total Reserves and Retained Surplus
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NOTE 21: EQUITY (CONTINUED)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus
The property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus arises from the revaluation of non-current assets. Where a revalued asset is
sold, the portion of the revaluation reserve which relates to that asset is transferred to retained surplus.
Gifted asset reserve
During the year ended 31 December 2002, the Northern Territory Government gifted to Batchelor Institute certain land and buildings
which it occupied. The fair values of these land and buildings were determined on the basis of valuations performed by the ValuerGeneral as at 1 July 2002. The valuation was determined on the basis of fair value for land amounting to $290,000 and depreciated
replacement cost for buildings of $15,109,000 making a total of $15,399,000. These values were recognised in the financial statements
during 2002 via the gifted asset revaluation. These and other assets have been revalued in accordance with Batchelor Institute’s
revaluation policy as described in Note 15 - Property, Plant and Equipment.

NOTE 22: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(a) Names of responsible persons and executive officers
The following persons were responsible persons and executive officers of Batchelor Institute during the financial year:
Council Members
Ms Patricia Anderson

Chairperson (appointed on 4 February 2019)

Professor Boni Robertson

Interim Deputy Chair (appointed 12 December 2018
to 04 February 2019)

Ms Vicki Baylis

Member (commenced 01 February 2018)

Professor Steve Larkin

Member (commenced 26 March 2018)

Mr Liam Fraser

Member (commenced 4 February 2019)

Mr Louis Kantilla

Member (commenced 4 February 2019)

Mr Russell Taylor AM

Member (commenced 4 February 2019)

Ms Lauren Ganley

Member (commenced 4 February 2019)

Mr Mick Gooda

Member (commenced 22 November 2019)

(b) Other key management personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Batchelor Institute
during the financial year:
Professor Steve Larkin

Chief Executive Officer (commenced 26 March 2018)

Dr Peter Stephenson

Deputy Chief Executive Officer Higher Education and Research (July 2018 to 08 December 2019)

Ms Wendy Ludwig		

Deputy Chief Executive Officer VET (commenced on 01 October 2018)

Dr Sue Stanton		

Executive Advisor Academic & Cultural Leadership (commenced July 2018)

Ms Leah Atkinson		

Chief Operating Officer (commenced on July 2018)

Ms Samantha Crossman

Director Executive Services (commenced on 11 March 2019)

Dr Jurg Bronniman		

Acting Deputy Chief Executive Officer Higher Education and Research (from 09 December 2019)
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

Number

Number

NOTE 22: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(c) Remuneration of Board Members and Executives
Remuneration paid or payable or otherwise made available to responsible persons and executive officers of Batchelor Institute:
Remuneration of Council Members *
Nil to $14,999

8

8

$30,000 to $44,999

1

-

$45,000 to $49,999

-

1

9

9

Nil to $130,000

1

9

$130,000 to $144,999

-

1

$145,000 to $159,999

1

-

$160,000 to $174,999

-

1

$175,000 to $189,999

2

-

$220,000 to $234,999

1

2

$250,000 to $264,999

1

-

$310,000 to $324,999

-

1

$430,000 to $444,999

1

-

7

14

Remuneration of Executive Officers *

* Remuneration bands have been updated to align with the Autralian Government Department of Education and Training’s Financial
Statement Guidelines for Australian Education Providers for the 2019 Reporting Period, comparatives have been restated accordingly.

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer is disclosed in Remuneration of Executive Officers as the remuneration relates to
his role as the Chief Executive Officer.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Short-term employee benefits

1,211

1,362

Post-employment benefits

224

140

30

37

-

92

1,465

1,631

(d) Key management personnel compensation

Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Total key management personnel compensation
(e) Other transactions with key management personnel
Refer Note 26 Related Parties
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 23: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year, the following fees were paid for services provided by the auditor of Batchelor Institute, its related practices and nonrelated audit firms:
Audit the Financial Statements
Fees payable to the Northern Territory Auditor-General’s Office
Audit and review of financial reports

78

40

78

40

Fees payable to Australian Skills Quality Authority

-

20

Fees payable to KPMG

2

11

Fees payable to Merit Partners

9

3

Fees payable to Barry Hansen

3

-

Total paid for other audit sevices

14

34

Total paid for audit
Other services
Fees payable for other audit services

Batchelor Institute’s auditor is the Northern Territory Auditor-General’s Office and seeks competitive tenders for all major consulting
projects.

NOTE 24: CONTINGENCIES
There were no known material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019.
ACCOUNTING POLICY
A contingent liability is:
a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, not wholly within the control of Batchelor Institute or
b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or
ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of Batchelor Institute.
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Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 25: COMMITMENTS
Lease commitments
Operating leases
Non-cancellable operating leases are made up of a low value underlying asset lease for a multifunction device.
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:
Within one year

7

485

Between one and five years

2

600

Later than five years

-

-

9

1,085

Total future minimum lease payments

NOTE 26: RELATED PARTIES
Batchelor Institute is a Northern Territory Government controlled entity. Related parties to Batchelor Institute are:
• Key Management Personnel including portfolio minister and their close family members;
• Any entity controlled or jointly controlled by Key Management Personnel or the portfolio minister or controlled or jointly
controlled by their close family members;
• Desert Peoples Centre Inc.; and
• Other Northern Territory Government controlled entities.
(a) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to directors and specified executives are set out in Note 22 - Key Management Personnel Disclosures.
(b) Transactions with related parties
Given the breadth of Territory Government activities, related parties may transact with the Territory Government Sector in a manner
consistent with the other members of the public including payment of payroll tax, stamp duty and other government fees and charges,
and therefore transactions with Northern Territory Government and its controlled entities have not been disclosed.
Minister’s remunerations and allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative Assembly and consequently disclosed
within the Treasurer’s Annual Financial Statements.
Related party transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMP) and their close family members are disclosed in the table below:
Revenue Payments to Amounts owed Amounts owed
From Related related parties
by related
to related
Parties
parties
parties
$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Provision of aircon maintenance services

-

48

-

-

Provision of consultancy services

-

15

-

-

Sale of assets

1

-

-

-

Employment of a related party to existing KMPs

-

152

-

-

The services provided or good purchased by KMPs and their close family members were at arms length and on commercial terms.
No provision for doubtful debts has been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been recognised in
respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.
(c) Terms and Conditions of Outstanding Balances
Receivables and payables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 days.
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NOTE 27: JOINT OPERATIONS
Batchelor Institute, through a joint venture agreement with the
Centre for Appropriate Technology Inc., has a 50% interest in the
Desert Peoples Centre Inc., an association incorporated under the
Associations Act 1963. The fair value of this investment has been
deemed to be nil due to the not-for-profit status of the Desert
Peoples Centre Inc. and its constitution which precludes any
profits being shared between the partners.

NOTE 28: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
Batchelor Institute is funded predominantly by annual
appropriations from both the Australian and Northern Territory
Governments to meet proposed cash expenditure on both
operational and capital items in the current financial year. Also,
the Northern Territory Government Department of Corporate
and Information Services (DCIS) provides certain services and
resources to Batchelor Institute at no charge (refer Note 5). This
general purpose financial report has been prepared on a going
concern basis in the expectation that such funding and support
will continue. The future operations of the Institute are dependent
upon the achievement of operating surpluses and positive
operating cash flows. The Institute has no reason to believe that
it will not continue to receive the support of the Australian and
Northern Territory Governments and will not be able to generate
operating surpluses and positive cash flows in the future.
Refer Note 29 for events occurring after the balance sheet date.

NOTE 29: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE
BALANCE SHEET DATE
The spread of coronavirus (COVID19) was declared a public
health emergency by the World Health Organisation on
31 January 2020 and upgraded to a global pandemic on
11 March 2020. The rapid rise of the virus has seen an
unprecedented global response by Governments, regulators and
industry sectors. The Australian Federal Government enacted its
emergency plan on 29 February 2020 which has seen the closure
of Australian borders from 20 March, an increasing level of
restrictions on corporate Australia’s ability to operate, significant
volatility and instability in financial markets and the release of a
number of government stimulus packages to support individuals
and businesses as the Australian and global economies face
significant slowdowns and uncertainties. This has required
Batchelor Institute to assess whether and how they are affected,
and the impact on their ongoing operations.
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The impact post 31 December 2019 on Batchelor Institute required
the short term ceasing of face to face classes on campuses,
changes in the way courses are delivered and also impacted
the ability to fulfil a number of contracts. Batchelor Institute
has been working closely with its students, Commonwealth and
Territory governments and its other customers in order to continue
operations and limit impacts, as well as explore applicable
government stimulus opportunities. The over all financial impact
of COVID-19 has not been fully quantified for the 2020 financial
year.
However, based on negotiations and discussions with the
Commonwealth and Territory governments who provide the core
Batchelor Institute funding and other customers and performing
cash flow forecasting, Batchelor Institute’s assessment has
concluded that:
1) There is no material financial impact on the 2019 Annual
Financial Statements due to COVID-19, as a post balance
sheet date event; and
2) Batchelor Institute is a going concern and that 2019
Annual Financial Statements should be prepared as
such and COVID-19 will not materially impact its ongoing
operations.

Economic Entity
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

NOTE 30: RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING RESULT TO NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net result for the period
Depreciation and amortisation
Asset Donations/write offs
Disposal of Assets
Impairment of assets
(Increase) / decrease in trade debtors
(Increase) / decrease in other operating assets
Increase / (decrease) in trade creditors
Increase / (decrease) in other operating liabilities
Increase / (decrease) in other provisions
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities

(2,732)

(1,238)

2,190

1,669

24

-

(38)

-

-

249

(1,203)

4,759

70

70

968

551

(630)

1,543

(76)

(552)

(1,427)

7,051

1,329

-

NOTE 31: NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of finance leases

NOTE 32: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES
Batchelor Institute’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (mainly fair value interest rate risk and cash flow
interest rate risk) credit risk and liquidity risk. Batchelor Institute’s
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the financial performance of Batchelor Institute.
Batchelor Institute uses different methods to measure different
types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include
sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate risk and ageing
analysis for credit risk.
Batchelor Institute’s financial instruments consist mainly of
deposits with banks, short term money market investments,
accounts receivable and payables. The main risks that Batchelor
is exposed to through financial instruments are credit risk and
interest rate risk though, as set out below, these risks are minimal.

Institute’s management of its financial risk is managed by
ensuring cash flow is adequate through receiving government
funds in a timely manner and investing in interest bearing bills
that mature as required. This is managed by the financial services
section of the Batchelor Institute with term deposits entered into
with National Australia Bank.
(a) Market risk
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Batchelor Institute has no debt and therefore no interest rate risk
in this regard. In terms of investment, the level of risk relates to
the movement in interest rates earned on income deposited and
the timeliness of grant payments paid to the Institute.
(ii) Summarised sensitivity analysis
The following tables summarise the sensitivity of Batchelor
Institute’s financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate
risk.

Batchelor Institute is almost entirely dependent on government
funding, with only a small amount of student fees and no foreign
exchange dealings. Batchelor Institute has a policy of investing
surplus cash only in secured term deposits. Therefore, Batchelor
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Interest rate risk
Carrying

-1%

+1%

amount

Result

Equity

Result

Equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 32: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(ii) Summarised sensitivity analysis (continued)
31 December 2019
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

7,448

(74)

(74)

74

74

Receivables

2,138

-

-

-

-

462

-

-

-

-

8

-

-

-

-

2,764

-

-

-

-

Borrowings

809

(8)

(8)

8

8

Provisions

3,651

-

-

-

-

Other financial liabilities

3,071

-

-

-

-

(66)

(66)

66

66

10,066

(101)

(101)

101

101

Receivables

935

-

-

-

-

Other financial assets

544

-

-

-

-

Payables

1,796

-

-

-

-

Provisions

3,727

-

-

-

-

Other financial liabilities

3,701

-

-

-

-

(101)

(101)

101

101

Other financial assets
Other non-financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables

Total increase/ (decrease)
31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Total increase/ (decrease)
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NOTE 32: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk
At the end of the financial year, Batchelor Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk to each class of recognised financial asset is the
carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of financial position.
Receivables and contract assets
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to Batchelor Institute.
Batchelor Institute also requires students to pay all debts prior to graduating.
Credit risk is managed subject to Batchelor Institute’s established policy, procedures and control relating to credit risk management.
Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on individual credit limits. Outstanding receivables are regularly monitored.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets
disclosed in the notes above.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on Batchelor Institute’s receivables and contract assets using a provision
matrix:
31 December 2019

Trade receivables
Days past due

Total

<30
days

30-60
days

61-90
days

90-180
days

180-365
days

>365
days

Expected credit loss rate

1%

2%

5%

10%

50%

100%

Estimated total gross carrying
amount at default

49

1

2

-

63

86

201

1

-

-

-

31

86

118

Expected credit loss

31 December 2018

Trade receivables
Days past due

Total

<30
days

30-60
days

61-90
days

90-180
days

180-365
days

>365
days

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

100%

Estimated total gross carrying
amount at default

-

-

-

-

-

33

33

Expected credit loss

-

-

-

-

-

33

33

Expected credit loss rate

Financial instruments and cash deposits
To manage credit risk associated with its cash balances, Batchelor Institute deposits its funds with Australia’s Big 4 banks or
Government guaranteed financial institutions.
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by Batchelor Institute in accordance with Batchelor
Institute’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to
each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by Batchelor Institute’s Council on an annual basis, and may be updated
throughout the year subject to approval of Batchelor Institute’s Director and Chief Operating Officer. The limits are set to minimise the
concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.
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NOTE 32: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments and cash deposits (continued)
Batchelor Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at 31 December 2019
and 2018 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in Note 17.
(c) Liquidity risk
The Institute receives over 80% of its funding in government grants and therefore is able to manage its liquidity risk based on known
income and approximate payment dates. Funds which are surplus to operating requirements are invested until required. Budget
management processes are in place so as to guard against the risk of over expenditure.
The following tables summarise the maturity of Batchelor Institute’s financial assets and financial liabilities:
31 December 2019

Average
Interest
Rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

Less
than 1
Year

1 to 5
Years

5+
Years

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1.00

7,448

-

-

-

-

7,448

Receivables

-

-

-

-

-

2,138

2,138

Other financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

462

462

Other non-financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

8

8

7,448

-

-

-

2,608

10,056

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables

-

-

-

-

-

2,764

2,764

Borrowings

-

809

-

-

-

-

809

Provisions

-

-

-

-

-

3,651

3,651

Other financial liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

3,071

3,071

809

-

-

-

9,486

10,295

Total financial liabilities

The following tables summarise the maturity of Batchelor Institute’s financial assets and financial liabilities:
31 December 2018

Average
Interest
Rate

Variable Less than 1
Interest
Year
Rate

1 to 5
Years

5+
Years

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1.50

10,066

-

-

-

-

10,066

Receivables

-

-

-

-

-

935

935

Other financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,066

-

-

-

935

11,001

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables

-

-

-

-

-

1,796

1,796

Provisions

-

-

-

-

-

3,727

3,727

Other financial liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

3,701

3,701

-

-

-

-

9,224

9,224

Total financial liabilities
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NOTE 33: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(a) Fair value measurements
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.
Due to the short-term nature of the cash and cash equivalents and current receivables, their carrying value approximates their fair
value and based on credit history it is expected that the receivables that are neither past due nor impaired will be received when due.
The carrying amounts and aggregate fair values of financial assets and liabilities at balance date are:
Note

Carrying Amount

Fair Value

2019

2018

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

12

7,448

10,066

7,448

10,066

Receivables and contract assets

13

2,138

935

2,138

935

Other financial assets

14

462

544

462

544

10,048

11,545

10,048

11,545

8

-

8

-

8

-

8

-

Total financial assets
Non-Financial assets
Other non-financial assets
Total non-financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables

17

2,764

1,796

2,764

1,796

Lease Liabilities

18

809

-

809

-

Provisions

19

3,651

3,727

3,651

3,727

Other financial liabilities

20

3,071

3,701

3,071

3,701

10,295

9,224

10,295

9,224

Total financial liabilities

Batchelor Institute measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis:
• Land and buildings
• Infrastructure
• Heritage and cultural assets
Disclosed fair values
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables is a reasonable approximation of their fair values due
to their short term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to Batchelor Institute for similar financial instruments (level 3).
(b) Fair value hierarchy
Batchelor Institute categorises assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a hierarchy based on the level of inputs used in
measurements.
• level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly
• level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
Recognised fair value measurements
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position are categorised into the following levels at
31 December 2019.
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NOTE 33: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
2019

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

985

-

985

-

26,080

-

26,080

-

Infrastructure

963

-

963

-

Heritage and cultural assets

752

-

752

-

28,780

-

28,780

-

-

-

-

-

528

-

528

-

49

-

49

-

-

-

-

-

577

-

577

-

985

-

985

-

26,608

-

26,608

-

1,012

-

1,012

-

Heritage and cultural assets

752

-

752

-

Total Non-Financial assets

29,357

-

29,357

-

985

-

985

-

27,483

-

27,483

-

1,073

-

1,073

-

752

-

752

-

30,293

-

30,293

-

Fair value measurements at 31 December 2019
Recurring fair value measurements
Non-Financial assets at Fair Value
Land
Buildings

Total Non-Financial assets at Fair Value
Non-Financial assets at Cost
Land
Buildings
Infrastructure
Heritage and cultural assets
Total Non-Financial assets at Cost
Total Non-Financial assets
Land
Buildings
Infrastructure

Fair value measurements at 31 December 2018
Recurring fair value measurements
Non-Financial assets
Land
Buildings
Infrastructure
Heritage and cultural assets
Total non-financial assets

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for recurring fair value measurements during the year.
Batchelor Institute’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTE 33: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair
values
Recurring fair value measurements
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives)
is determined using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
Recurring fair value measurements (continued)
Land and buildings, Infrastructure, and Heritage and Cultural
assets are shown at fair value based on periodic, but at
least quinquennial valuations by independent valuers, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings and infrastructure. At the
end of each reporting period, Batchelor Institute updates the
assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into account
the most recent independent valuations. Batchelor Institute
determines the property’s value within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of

the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount
of the asset.
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for similar properties. Where such information is not
available Batchelor Institute considers information from a variety
of sources, including:
• depreciated replacement cost for land and buildings,
and infrastructure. It involves a calculation for the
current cost of replacing an asset with its modern
equivalent asset, and less deductions for all physical
deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation.
• a sales comparison approach for heritage and cultural
assets, based on secondary-market evidence and
depreciation trends. It considers the sales of similar
or substitute assets and related market data, and
establishes a value estimate by processes involving
comparison. In general, an asset being valued is
compared with sales of similar assets that have been
transacted in the open market.
All resulting fair value estimates for properties are included in
level 2.

Note

Economic entity
National
Institutes
Funding

Promotion of
Excellence in
Learning and
Teaching*

Indigenous
Student
Success
Program**

TOTAL

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 34: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
(a) Education – CGS and Other Education
Grants
Financial assistance received in cash during
the reporting period (total cash received
from the Australian Government for the
program)

3.1 (a)
7,502

7,362

-

-

274

234

7,776

7,596

-

-

(19)

-

-

(20)

(19)

(20)

7,502

7,362

(19)

-

274

214

7,757

7,576

Surplus / (deficit) from the previous year

-

-

34

51

20

48

54

99

Total revenue including accrued revenue

7,502

7,362

15

51

294

262

7,811

7,675

Less expenses including accrued expenses

(7,502)

(7,362)

(15)

(17)

(284)

(242)

(7,801)

(7,621)

-

-

-

34

10

20

10

54

Net accrual adjustments
Revenue for the period

Surplus / (deficit) for reporting period

*The Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching Program, which was disclosed under Other Programs in 2018 , has been disclosed
separately to comply with the Department of Education Financial Statement Guidelines for 2019.
** Indigenous Student Success Program has replaced the Indigenous Commonwealth Scholarships Program and the Indigenous Support
Program as of 1 January 2017.
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Note

Economic entity
Research
Training
Program*

Research
Support
Program**

TOTAL

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 34: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
(CONTINUED)
(b) Department of Education and Training Research
Financial assistance received in cash during the
reporting period (total cash received from the Australian
Government for the program)

3.1 (b)
127

148

133

140

260

288

-

-

2

-

2

-

Revenue for the period

127

148

135

140

262

288

Surplus / (deficit) from the previous year

(33)

22

175

76

142

98

Total revenue including accrued revenue

94

170

310

216

404

386

Less expenses including accrued expenses

(176)

(203)

(80)

(41)

(256)

(244)

Surplus / (deficit) for reporting period

(82)

(33)

230

175

148

142

Net accrual adjustments

* Research Training Program Includes Australian Postgraduate Awards and Research Training Scheme
** The reported surplus of $230,000 for Research Support Program is expected to be rolled over for future use by the Institute
As of 1 January 2017, Research Support Program replaced Joint Research Engagement Program, Research Infrastructure Block Grants
and Sustainable Research Excellence in Universities
(c) Total Higher Education Provider Research Training Program expenditure
Total
domestic
students

Total
overseas
students

$’000

$’000

Research Training Program Fees offsets

112

-

Research Training Program Stipends

63

-

Research Training Program Allowances

64

-

239

-

Total for all types of support
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STATEMENT BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2019
1.

In my opinion:
(a) the accompanying financial statements of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education (Batchelor Institute) are
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 31 December 2019, and the results for the year ended
on that date, of Batchelor Institute, and
(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that Batchelor Institute will be able to pay its debts as
and when they fall due.

3.

4.
5.

The accompanying financial statements and notes thereto of Batchelor Institute have been made out in accordance with the
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education Act 1999, Australian Accounting Standards, the Australian Charities and
Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and as per the Department of Education and Training Financial Statement Guidelines for
Australian Higher Education Providers for the 2019 Reporting Period.
The amount of Australian Government financial assistance expended during the reporting period was for the purpose(s) for which
it was provided.
Batchelor Institute has complied with the requirements of various program guidelines that apply to the Australian Government
financial assistance identified in the financial statements.

Signed at Darwin this 25th day of May 2020.

Professor Steven Larkin
Chief Executive Officer

Annual Report 2019

99

Auditors Reports

100 Batchelor Institute

Annual Report 2019

101

102 Batchelor Institute

Annual Report 2019

103

